
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 8 February 2021 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 16 February 2021, 1.00 pm 
 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson 
 

This meeting will be broadcast live on the Allerdale Borough Council YouTube™ Channel.  
 

If you have any questions or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502 or 
lee.jardine@allerdale.gov.uk. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes (Pages 3 - 16) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 22 December 
2020 

  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 



 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two 
clear working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

5. Development Panel - Hill Farm, Causeway Road, Seaton - Works to TPO, 
Propose to remove the following trees to avoid safety issues etc to the 
neighbouring dwelling. Remove Ash, T1 and T5 and plant replacement 
trees (Pages 17 - 26) 

 

6. Development Panel - Land East of Causeway Road, Seaton - Outline 
application for residential development comprising up to 100 dwellings 
with details of access and associated works (Pages 27 - 72) 

 

7. Development Panel - Land at Lillyhall North, Branthwaite Road, Winscales, 
Workington - Hybrid application- Full planning permission is sought for the 
construction of a new roundabout, site access and spine road and the 
extension to existing pedestrian/cycle path. Outline permission for the 
erection of a variety of industrial, storage, research and development and 
industrial process use buildings (Use classes B2, B8, E(g)ii E(g)iii).  (Pages 
73 - 108) 

 

8. Development Panel - Low Wood, Belle Vue, Papcastle, Cockermouth - 
Application for a lawful development certificate for a proposed outbuilding 
(Pages 109 - 122) 

 

 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 16 March 2021, 1.00 pm 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 
 



At a meeting of the Development Panel held on Zoom Virtual Meeting on Tuesday 22 
December 2020 at 1.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Paul Scott 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Smith 
Councillor Alan Tyson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Allan Daniels, Councillor Janet Farebrother, Councillor Adrian Kirkbride and Councillor 
Ron Munby MBE 
 
Staff Present 
 
J Irving, L Jardine, S Sharp and L Tomlinson 
 
 
254. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meetings held on 25 August 2020, 22 September 2020 and 
20 October 2020 were signed as a correct record. 
 

255. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared 
 

256. Questions  
 
None received 
 

257. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0010 - Land adjacent Heatherfields,  
Broughton Moor - Residential development of 66 no dwellings and 
associated infrastructure  
 
Representations 
 
The Agent, David Wright of Gleeson Homes spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended the following. 
 
Delegate the granting of planning permission subject to the conditions detailed 
in Annex 1 to the Planning and Building Control Manager upon the completion 
and signing of a s106 agreement to secure the following:  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



A. Affordable housing provision (6 x 2 bedroom rented properties and 7 LCHO - 
5 x two-bedroom homes and 2 x 3 bedroom homes) to provide 20% of the 
development (13 homes) as affordable housing.  
 
B. Provision of a pedestrian access link to and the upgrade of the adjacent play 
area.  
 
C. Maintenance of the on-site sustainable urban drainage features.  
 
D. Maintenance of on-site landscaping works in accordance with the approved 
Landscaping Plan.  
 
E. Financial contribution for a traffic regulation order (TRO) to re-site the 
existing 30mph speed limit. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager then went through the main issues 
as detailed in the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site is within the settlement limits of Broughton Moor as defined 
in the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 and is a ‘Housing Commitment’. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
The highway arrangements are acceptable. A Traffic Regulation Order is 
required to extend the 30mph limit to the site frontage. Suitable visibility splays 
can be provided to allow for a safe vehicular access. Parking standards are 
met. 
 
Design and Layout 
 
The design and layout is acceptable for this edge of settlement location 
responding to the character of the built environment and on site constraints. 
 
Public Open Space and Play Areas 
 
The scheme comprises the provision of a pedestrian access and updated 
equipment to the nearby village play area. The access will also provide a safe 
route for families accessing Broughton Moor School. 
 
Housing Mix 
 
The housing mix is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Drainage 
 
There are acceptable drainage arrangements proposed. Surface water drainage 
details can be secured by planning condition based on the sustainable 
hierarchy of drainage options as defined in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance. 
 

Page 4



Visual and Landscape Impacts 
 
There is limited adverse impact on the landscape character of the locality due to 
the relatively flat nature of the site, the arrangement of the dwellings and the 
relationship with existing development. There will also be hedgerow retention 
and tree planting.  
 
There will be a visual change for nearby dwellings however the change is 
deemed acceptable and will not have a significant impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity by virtue of overlooking or loss of light. 
 
Contamination and Ground Condition 
 
There is a significant potential risk of surface instability resulting from ‘shallow’ 
former mine workings beneath the site. The remediation and verification of 
remediation measures related to historic coal mining activities are to be secured 
by planning conditions in accordance with Policy S30 ALPP1.  
 
The site is constrained to a degree by overhead lines and major gas pipeline. 
The proposed layout has factored in these constraints and further conditions are 
proposed to protect this apparatus during the construction phase. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the site including the location 
within the village of Broughton Moor. The Planning and Building Control 
Manager also provided further detail in relation to Drainage. 
 
Members were also directed to the conditions, in particular condition 9 and 
condition 14 in respect to Coal Mining and Gas Pipes. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
Questions were asked of the speakers in relation to pedestrian access, 
attenuation systems, affordability of homes, the housing market, climate 
change, access roads, housing standards, flooding and pre commencement 
planning conditions. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers in relation to the recommendations to 
delegate authority to grant permission to the Planning and Building Control 
Manager and on schools and local infrastructure. 
 
Debate ensued over policy SA5 of the local plan, (Housing Standards), officers 
advised members that in officers’ opinion limited weight should be afforded to 
this policy in the overall balance but members were open to afford different 
weight if evidenced and come to a different conclusion. The member debate 
continued with the clear consensus that it was regrettable that standards could 
not be achieved on all dwelling but it was heavily outweighed by the need to 
deliver these open market and affordable homes in Broughton Moor.  
 
Councillor Grainger moved the motion to accept the recommendations as stated 
in the report. 
 

Page 5



The motion was seconded by Councillor Markley. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to accept the recommendations as stated in the 
report, 9 voted in favour, 2 against and 0 abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Members resolved to delegate the granting of planning permission subject to 
the conditions detailed in Annex 1 to the Planning and Building Control Manager 
upon the completion and signing of a s106 agreement to secure the following:  
 

A. Affordable housing provision (6 x 2 bedroom rented properties and 7 
LCHO - 5 x two bedroom homes and 2 x 3 bedroom homes) to provide 
20% of the development (13 homes) as affordable housing.  
 

B. Provision of a pedestrian access link to and the upgrade of the adjacent 
play area;  
 

C. Maintenance of the on-site sustainable urban drainage features.  
 

D. Maintenance of on-site landscaping works in accordance with the 
approved Landscaping Plan;  
 

E. Financial contribution for a traffic regulation order (TRO) to re-site the 
existing 30mph speed limit. 
 

CONDITIONS  
 
Time limit  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.  

 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 
In accordance  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:  

 Location Plan PL-01  

 Amended drawing PL-02 Layout received 17.11.20  

 Landscape Plan GHDR-WW-01 Rev B received 02.12.20  

 Amended drawing PL-04 Street Scenes received 25.09.20  

 Proposed Drainage Details DWG 6481-103  

 Proposed Road Details DWG 6481-104  

 Vehicle Swept Path Analysis Sheet 2 Dwg 6481-106 received 
01.09.20 

 Access Arrangements Dwg VN91318-D100 Rev A received 25.08.20 

 DWG 6481-300 Rev B Proposed Road Layout received 23.11.20 

Page 6



 Sheet 1 of 3 

 DWG 6481-301 Rev B Proposed Road Layout received 23.11.20 

 Sheet 2 of 3 

 DWG 6481-302 Rev B Proposed Road Layout received 23.11.20 

 Sheet 3 of 3 

 DWG 6481-400 Rev B Proposed Adoptable Drainage received 

 23.11.20 Sheet 1 of 3 

 DWG 6481-401 Rev B Proposed Adoptable Drainage received 

 23.11.20 Sheet 2 of 3 

 DWG 6481-402 Rev B Proposed Adoptable Drainage received 

 23.10.20 Sheet 3 of 3 

 Boundary Treatments 1800mm high timber fence 

 Post and Wire fence SD103 REV B 

 DWG 13/201 -8 Rev A Type 201 Rural Elevations Plan 

 House Type 201 floor plans 

 DWG 13-301-8 REV E - Type 301 Elevations (Rural 13) 

 DWG 13-303-9 REV F - Type 303 Elevations 

 Type 303 - The Wicklow 

 DWG 304/1E House Type 304 Floor Plans 

 DWG 13/304 -10 Rev G Type 304(AC) Rural 13 Elevations 

 DWG 443/220 House type 314 Rural 

 DWG 13-315-9 REV A - Type 315 Elevations (Rural 13) 

 Type 315 - The Brandon 

 House Type 337 Floor Plans 

 DWG 13/337-10 Rev A Type 337 (A) – 10 Rural 13 Elevations 

 DWG 13/353-09 Rev A Type 353 Elevations Rural 13 

 DWG 353/1A House Type 353 Floor Plans 

 House Type 354 – Floor plans 

 House Type 354 – Elevations (Rural) 

 DWG 435/1 A House Type 435 – Floor Plans 

 DWG 13/435-9 Rev A House Type 435 – Rural Elevation 

 DWG 13/454 -10 B Rural Elevations 

 DWG 454 dwelling type 

 Standard Garages - double SD701 REV B 

 Standard Garages - single SD700 REV 

 Amended Affordable Housing Statement 

 Affordable Housing justification email 11.11.20 

 Amended Flood Risk Assessment REV 1 August 2020 received 
1.09.20 

 Phase 1 Habitat Survey 

 Appendix 1 Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey 

 Appendix 2 Dearham Rd Broughton Moor Sites Search 

 Construction Management Plan January 2019 - Broughton Moor - 
06-01-2020 as amended by email received 24.11.20. 

 Economic Benefits Report 

 Ground Investigation Report - Geo-environmental Appraisal Report 

 Ground Gas Monitoring Addendum Letter 17.1.20 

 Gas Addendum Letter Reports 

 Outline Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal Rev A 12 12 19 

Page 7



 Preliminary Ecological Assessment July 2019 

 Transport Statement VN91318 January 2020 

 Transport Statement Addendum received 13.11.20 

 Framework Travel Plan VN91318 November 2020 

 Heads of Terms Section 106 received 13.11.20 

 Amended planning application form received 13.11.20 proposing 66 
dwellings 

 Broughton Moor Recreation drawing details Outline Landscape 
Plan received 13.11.20 (regarding section 106) 

 Drainage Strategy Report Dec 2019 

 Email regarding drainage received 23.11.20 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 
3. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation 
measures specified within the Phase 1 Habitat Survey and the Preliminary 
Ecology Appraisal July 2019 Part 3 Ecological Evaluation and 
recommendations. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding ecological interests during the 
construction works of the development hereby approved, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
4. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved Landscape Plan DWG GHDR-WW-01 Rev B received 
02.12.20 within the first planting season following the occupation of the 
dwellinghouse(s) approved and any trees or plants which within a 
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimise the impact of the development in the locality. 
 
5. The development hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance 
with the details within the Construction Management Plan – Broughton 
Moor - 06-01-2020. The approved statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the duration of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development 
hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
6. The construction compound, including vehicular access thereto as 
detailed as the ‘Contractor’s Car park’, within the Construction 
Management Plan January 2020, showing the compound for the parking 
of vehicles engaged in the construction operations associated with the 

Page 8



development hereby approved, shall be used for or be kept available for 
these purposes at all times until the completion of the construction 
works. 
 
Reason: The carrying out of this development without the provision of these 
facilities during the construction work is likely to lead to inconvenience and 
danger to road users. 
 
Pre commencement conditions 
 
7. No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 

 Retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and 
unloading for their specific purpose during the development 

 Cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 

 Details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 

 The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent 
spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; 

 Construction vehicle routing; 

 The management of junctions to and crossings of the public 
highway 
and other public rights of way/footway; 

 Details of any proposed temporary access points (vehicular / 
pedestrian);  

 Surface water management details during the construction phase.  
 

Reason: To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely 
impact upon the fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the 
interests of highway and pedestrian safety. 
 
8. Prior to the commencement of works, a phasing plan showing the 
sequencing of the development for managing the construction shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be implemented solely in accordance with 
the approved scheme or as subsequently amended by written 
agreement with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To serve in the public and visual interests a satisfactory correlated 
order of development, in accordance with Policies S5 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 
 
9. Prior to any construction works on site, in line with the 
recommendations of the Ground Investigation Report C7 956 received 
17.1.20 and the Ground gas Monitoring Addendum letter dated 17.1.20, 
intrusive site investigation works shall be undertaken to establish the 
exact situation regarding coal mining legacy issues on the site and a 
remediation and mitigation strategy shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 
remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and 
programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 

Page 9



The approved remediation strategy shall be implemented and a 
verification report submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use.  
 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination or stability from the development in the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 
10.The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, drained 
and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further 
details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development 
hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance 
with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any 
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is fully 
occupied.  
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety. 
 
11.Notwithstanding the submitted plans, prior to commencement of the 
development, a surface water drainage scheme based on the hierarchy of 
drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance, with 
evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the 
scheme shall be managed after completion) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall 
discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly. The 
development shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an 
assessment of its existing undeveloped state, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
12. No development shall commence until it has been demonstrated to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority through the submission of a 
condition and capacity survey, that the surface water drainage system 
downstream of the surface water discharge point for the development, is 
of a satisfactory standard to accept the surface water drainage from the 
site, or that upgrade works have been undertaken to ensure that surface 
water drainage from the site can be accommodated satisfactorily.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Page 10



 
13.The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 43 metres to the west x 60 metres to the east, 
measured 2.4 metres down the centre of the access road and the 
nearside channel line of the carriageway edge have been provided at the 
junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding 
the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and 
reenacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, 
vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no 
trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown 
within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. The 
visibility splays shall be constructed before general development of the 
site commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded. 
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 
 
14.No development shall commence until a High Pressure Gas 
Transmission Pipeline Strategy has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, for the Northern Gas Networks 
Bulk Transmission System which crosses the northern section of the 
site. The details provided shall satisfy points 1 to 8 of email dated 19 
November 2020 from Northern Gas Networks, a copy of which is attached 
to this decision. The scheme shall be implemented only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that this infrastructure is adequately protected, during and 
post construction, in the interests of safety and protection of supply. 
 
15.Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall commence 
until foul drainage details have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved foul drainage details shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details and only foul 
drainage shall be connected to the public sewer. 
 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and 
minimise the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
During works / Prior occupation conditions 
 
16.No dwelling shall be occupied until the 30mph speed limit has been 
extended to include the length of the visibility splays in accordance with 
Access Arrangements Dwg VN91318-D100 Rev A received 25.08.20 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

Page 11



17.Prior to occupation of the dwelling house(s), boundary fencing shall be 
constructed in accordance with DWG Boundary Treatments 1800mm 
high timber fence, DWG Post and Wire fence SD103 REV B and 
Amended drawing PL-02 Layout received 17.11.20. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 
 
18.No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including footways 
and cycleways, to serve that dwelling, has been constructed in all 
respects to base course level, and street lighting where it is to form part 
of the estate road, has been provided and brought into full operational 
use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
19.Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that dwelling 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority of either:- 
a) Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to broadband 
infrastructure providers during the construction process to allow 
the providers to install the necessary broadband infrastructure; or 
b) Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure 
providers, that it is not practicably or viably possible to install 
broadband infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by 
Government standards) fibre broadband connectivity. 
 
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by Government 
standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with policy SA33 of the 
modified Submission Draft of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (2018). 
 
Other 
 
20.In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on 
the part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment 
carried out and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks are found remediation 
and verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. 
All works shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, 
particularly CLR11. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from 
the development to the local environment in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

Page 12



21.The measures identified in the Framework Travel Plan November 2020 
shall be implemented by the developer within 12 months of occupation of 
the first dwelling of the development. 
 
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the development. 
 

258. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0043 - Barncroft, 16 High Seaton, Seaton - 
Proposed erection of one detached house (Type A) and two dormer 
bungalows (types B And C) on land adjoining no. 16 High Seaton  
 
Representations 
 
A letter of support was read out on behalf of the agent, Simon Blacker 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended granting permission subject to conditions. 
 
This application was before the development panel in 2020 and the application 
was deferred pending a site visit and to seek clarification on the information 
submitted in relation to the culverted watercourse and drainage systems. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager confirmed that the Development 
Panel had attended a site visit and went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site falls within the settlement limit of the now adopted Part 2 of the Local 
Plan Seaton is included as part of the Principal Centre in policy S3 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. This Centre is expected to absorb 35% of the total 
growth provision across the Plan period. The site is a sustainable location, well 
related to the existing built form of Seaton. 
 
Scale and Design and Impact Upon Residential Amenity 
 
Given the amended design and revisions to the scale, massing and design of 
the proposed dwellings, officers consider the proposed development is 
acceptable and assimilates into the local landscape. The proposed dwellings 
are not considered to give rise to significant amenity impacts on surrounding 
homes. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
The site is entirely in flood zone 1, the preferred location for the more vulnerable 
use proposed here. There are no known critical drainage problems or surface 
water flooding records for the site. Following further information being 
submitted, the County Council in their capacity as Lead Local Flood Authority 
raise no objections to the proposal. 
 
Highway Safety 

Page 13



 
This is a modest proposal. Whilst concerns have been raised from third parties 
in relation to highway safety matters, the sustainable location and small scale of 
the proposal will mean that residual trips to and from the site by car will be very 
low. Adequate sight lines can be afforded onto Fernleigh Drive and then onto 
High Seaton. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager explained that the since the 
September 2020 application the layout and house types have not been 
amended but that amendments have been made to the surface water drainage 
proposals. Specifically, the culvert as identified initially by a third party, was now 
being used as part of the system rather than proposing a direct connection to 
the adopted United Utilities maintained sewer. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the site including the location 
within the village of Seaton. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
Questions were asked of the officers and debate ensued in relation to ribbon 
development, boundary fencing, excavation of land, site access and the impact 
the development will have on neighbouring properties.  
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager clarified to members, following 
queries, that both the party wall and boundary disputes are covered by specific 
legislation, not relating to planning considerations. 
 
Debate then ensued in relation to potential impacts on residential amenity, 
several members also commented on the fact that the development seemed to 
have been ‘shoehorned’ in. 
 
Councillor Grainger moved the motion to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Markley. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to grant permission subject to conditions 2 
voted in favour, 9 against and 0 abstentions 
 
The motion was lost. 
 
Councillor Horsley then moved the motion to refuse permission as the 
development is contrary to criterion d. of policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
Part 1 2014 as dwelling A as proposed has an unacceptable effect on the 
residential amenity of No. 17 High Seaton in terms of loss of privacy as a result 
of overlooking, an increased sense of enclosure as a result of being 
overbearing and loss of sunlight and daylight received as a result of 
overshadowing. 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Semple 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to refuse, 9 voted in favour, 1 against, 1 
abstention. 

Page 14



 
Resolution 
 
Application refused as “The development is contrary to criterion d. of policy S32 
of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 as dwelling A as proposed has an 
unacceptable effect on the residential amenity of No. 17 High Seaton in terms of 
loss of privacy as a result of overlooking, an increased sense of enclosure as a 
result of being overbearing and loss of sunlight and daylight received as a result 
of overshadowing.” 
 

The meeting closed at 3.50 pm 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application WTPO/2020/0023 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: WTPO/2020/0023 

Valid Date: 13/08/2020 

Location: Hill Farm , Causeway Road, Seaton 

Applicant: Trustees of the Copsey family Trust  

Proposal: Works to TPO  
Propose to remove the following trees to avoid safety  
issues etc to the neighbouring dwelling. 
Remove Ash, T1 and T5 and plant replacement trees  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the application for the felling of the 2 Ash trees is granted subject to a 
condition securing the planting of 2 replacement trees. 

 

1.0      Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Amenity value The trees were protected as part of a 
cluster of mature individual trees within the 
grounds of Hill Farm which are of amenity 
value as a landscape feature within the 
streetscene. 

Justification The loss of the trees is on the grounds of 
evidence of Ash dieback which results in 
these two trees representing a safety 
threat to the occupiers of the neighbouring 
bungalow (1a Causeway Rd, Seaton) 

 

2.0      Introduction 
 
2.1 On 5/1/18 a tree preservation order (TPO/1/2018) was made following the felling 

of a mature tree on the eastern perimeter of Hill Farm’s grounds. The TPO was 
made as a group designation and was modified during the course of the 
assessment deleting the individual tree T6 from the order due to concerns about 
its health. The final confirmed TPO group designation comprises of 7 Sycamore 
trees (ref: T2, T3, T4, T7,T8, T9 and T10) and 2 Ash trees (ref T1 and T5) 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



2.2 Further to members’ recent planning concerns on the proposed tree works to this 
same TPO under the housing application 2/2018/0493, (which had prompted 
local representations), officers considered it would be logical for members to also 
evaluate and determine this separate tree works application at the same meeting 
of the Development Panel. However it is highlighted that this application is 
independent from the planning application and should be assessed on its 
individual merits. 

 
 
3.0 Proposal 

 
3.1 The details for consideration under WTPO/20/0023 are:- 
 

 Application form dated 12.08.20 

 Arborocultural statement dated 5/08/21  

 Site location plan  

 e-mail dated 2/12/2020 omitting T6, T7 and T8 from the treeworks 
application. 

 
These details can be found here;- 
 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DFAWUA4/wtpo20200023?tabset-e3f5c=2 
 

 
4.0 Site  
 
4.1  The application site is located within the surrounding grounds of Hill Farm, 

causeway road, Seaton. The protected trees forma line on the western and 
southern boundaries of the site. 

 
4.2 The neighbouring land to the south is occupied by a residential bungalow (1a 

Causeway Road). 
 

 
5.0 Relevant planning History  
 
5.1  The current tree works application were prompted by a complaint from the 

neighbouring property expressing concerns on the safety implications of the 
neighbouring trees. Although these trees were surveyed as part of the housing 
planning application, they were resurveyed in response to the complaint and its 
findings form the basis of the current separate tree works application. Members 
may recollect that this current application was reported at the Panel’s 
consideration of the housing application 2/2018/0493 which involves a separate 
range of proposed tree works to the same TPO group. 

 
5.2  Tree T6 had been omitted from the made TPO due to an identified wound on the 

tree. This individual tree, irrespective of the wound, still had the potential to 
contribute to the landscape amenity. Subsequently, the Council made a separate 
TPO (TPO/2020/0014) to protect this individual Sycamore tree.  

Page 18

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DFAWUA4/wtpo20200023?tabset-e3f5c=2
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DFAWUA4/wtpo20200023?tabset-e3f5c=2


5.3 Officers highlight the amendment to the application as, originally, it proposed the 
removal of trees T6, T7 and T8 on the grounds that they did not significantly 
contribute to the visual amenity of the streetscene. However, these three frontage 
trees were subsequently withdrawn from this application following the Council’s 
peer appraisal which alternatively concluded they were of amenity value. Thus 
this application solely relates to the proposed felling of two Ash trees (T1 & T5) 
on safety grounds. 

 
 
6.0 Representations 
 
 Seaton Parish Council 
 
6.1 Object to the felling of the TPO trees, with the designation being requested by 

the Parish Council. The trees form an integral part of the landscape of Low 
Seaton for over 100 years. Their felling would decimate the character of the 
village and the replacement trees would provide no compensation since it will 
take them a hundred years to reach the same size. Consider the proposed works 
are contrary to Policies S24, S32, S35 and DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 2014. Given the Council supported the arguments for the protection of the trees 
it seems obtuse to support any request for them to be felled which makes the 
registration process worthless. The Parish Council therefore seeks the request to 
fell be rejected. 

 
 Other representations  
 
6.2 Fifteen letters of objection have been received against the application 

concerning: 
 

a) The trees are protected under a TPO. 
b) Felling goes against Council policies towards protecting woodland.  
c) Trees have been at the site since 1840 with few trees in the area. 
d) Adverse impact on wildlife /ecology –bats, squirrels, birds etc. 
e) The proposed works are to enable access to the proposed housing 

development  
f) The trees were protected for good reasons concerning their amenity 

value. 
g) The trees could be impacted by the drainage works for the housing 

development. 
h) Previous loss of tree T13 prior to the Order was the only Class A tree at 

the site. 
i) Similar comments to the supporting tree assessment details in the 

residential application. 
j) Need for detailed survey (to avoid any rushed decision) 
k) Reference to Woodland Trust’s comments on Ash dieback on its 

symptoms, spread in Europe  
l) Contrary to strategic objectives SO6a and planning policies S2 

(Environmental), S24 (Green Infrastructure), S32 (Safeguarding amenity), 
S33 (Landscape) and S35 (Protecting and enhancing biodiversity) of the 
Allerdale local Plan (Part 1). 

Page 19



m) Poor management of Cypress hedge on western boundary which is 
supposed to be retained as part of the future development scheme. 

n) Harm to the village character  
o) Loss of beautiful trees and severe visual impact on the appearance of the 

area. 
p) Lack of Allerdale’s incorporation of Biodiversity in its Community strategy 
q) Loss of trees impacts on social/mental well being 
r) Reference to national Government’s pledge; Environment Secretary, 

Michael Gove, appointed Sir William Worsley in 2019 to head national 
scheme to plant 12 million trees and stop needless felling with the need to 
consult the community on such works. Worsley advised trees are an 
important part of the community and transform landscapes, improve health 
and help the economy.  

 
 
7.0 Legal background 

 
7.1 The primary legislation relating to Tree Preservation Orders is the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by section 192 of the 2008 Planning Act. 
The 1990 Act provides the ability for secondary legislation to be made setting out 
the statutory framework for the making and confirming of Tree Preservation 
Orders. Currently this is the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) 
(England) Regulations 2012 which came into force on 6 April 2012.  

 
 
8.0 Development Plan policy  
 
 Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014)  
 
8.1 Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands is relevant as are the 

accompanying supporting paragraphs. Paragraph 399 (on page 180) advises 
that trees will be expected to be replaced in a 2:1 ratio although the paragraph 
explicitly refers to where development resulting in the loss of trees, which is not 
the case here.  

 
 
9.0 Other policy guidance 
 
9.1 Following the publication of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 

the government commenced the on-line National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) to replace guidance such as circulars. The NPPG is a live document that 
can be updated. In terms of assessing applications for works to/felling of 
protected trees, the NPPG advises as follows;- 

 
 “In considering an application, the local planning authority should assess the 

impact of the proposal on the amenity of the area and whether the proposal is 
justified, having regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in 

Page 20



support of it. The authority must be clear about what work it will allow and any 
associated conditions.”1 

 
 9.2 The following paragraph2 of the NPPG provides a series of bullet-pointed criteria 

for the Authority to consider;- 
 

a) Assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of 
the proposal on the amenity of the area; 

b) consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is 
justified, having regard to the reasons and additional information put 
forward in support of it; 

c) consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused 
or granted subject to conditions; 

d) consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species; 
e) consider other material considerations, including development plan 

policies where relevant; and 
f) ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision; 
g) assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of 

the proposal on the amenity of the area; 
h) consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is 

justified, having regard to the reasons and additional information put 
forward in support of it; 

i) consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused 
or granted subject to conditions; 

j) consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species; 
k) consider other material considerations, including development plan 

policies where relevant; and 
l) ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision. 

 
  

 

10.0 Assessment  
 
10.1    The trees are considered to be prominent features which are clearly visible within 

the streetscape on Causeway Road and it is accepted that the trees are of 
amenity value. The grounds for undertaking the works to the 2 Ash trees is solely 
for safety. The applicant’s tree consultant‘s report considers the trees T1 and T5 
have been in decline since the initial survey in 2018. It considers these trees 
have been affected by Ash dieback with little leaf cover. They recommend felling 
given their current condition and likely future deterioration. 

 
10.2    In order to evaluate the merits of this application the Council commissioned an 

independent peer assessment of the trees.  
 

                                                 
1 Paragraph: 089 Reference ID: 36-089-20140306 Revision 6/3/14 Accessed at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas 
 
2 Paragraph: 090 Reference ID: 36-090-20140306 Revision 6/3/14 Accessed at 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas 
 
 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-value
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#deciding-a-claim-for-compensation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-value
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#deciding-a-claim-for-compensation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas


The conclusions of the assessment were: 
 

a) T1- Although the applicant’s case was unsubstantiated it was confirmed 
the tree was displaying signs of Ash dieback with reduced vigour and 
minimal tree cover for the time of year, plus blackened lesions and 
discoloured veins within the leaves . Due to the proximity of the unrelated 
neighbouring property and that the Ash dieback will reduce the integrity of 
the tree it is recommended the tree be removed on safety grounds. 

b) T6; this tree is showing greater signs of Ash dieback than that of T1 with 
lesions, leaf discolouration and epicormic growth. In addition there are 
signs of root plate movement, highlighting it has an overhanging branch 
over the neighbouring dwelling. It is therefore recommended that due to 
the condition and proximity of the neighbouring property that the tree 
should be felled on safety grounds. 
 

10.3 The peer report disputed the application’s initial claims relating to the           
inclusion of felling some frontage trees on amenity grounds which were 
withdrawn. It also recommended that, despite the cavity at the base of T6, it 
could be protected to allow for its long term retention. 

 
10.4    The issues relating to the impact of the works on any protected wildlife species is 

specified and secured under separate legislation (Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981). In some instances a stem of a dying or dead tree is left still protected by 
the TPO for its wildlife value e.g. 3-5m of its trunk. However, it is considered that 
this would not result in any wildlife value of weight to be affect the overall balance 
of considerations in this case. It would also irrevocably and substantially reduce 
the amenity value of the trees and be unlikely to overcome the safety 
considerations given the proximity of the neighbouring property. 

 
10.5 It is considered necessary, on the grounds of future amenity value that 

replacement trees are secured by condition. The number of replacement trees 
has been carefully considered by officers with particular regard to 
reasonableness and the proximity of the neighbouring properties. Although 
paragraph 399 of the Local Plan Part 1 specifies a ratio of 2:1 for trees lost as a 
result of a development proposal, this is not the case here and a 1;1 ratio is 
considered appropriate.  

 
 
11.0 Conclusions   
 
11.1. The important amenity grounds for the initial TPO is not disputed. 
 

11.2 With the withdrawal of the frontage trees there is no overlap of felling works 
associated with the housing development. The two applications are therefore 
independent with their own bespoke grounds for undertaking their respective 
works. 

11.3 This application has been amended during the course of its assessment omitting 
some of the trees from the schedule of proposed works. Given the findings of the 

Page 22



peer tree consultant’s report on the safety concerns on the applications 
remaining 2 trees and that these works are neither directly related to the 
development or related to their amenity value, officers consider there are 
reasonable and valid overriding grounds for the removal of the 2 Ash trees 
subject to the replanting of two replacement trees. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the application for the felling of the 2 Ash trees is granted subject to a 
condition securing the planting of replacement trees. 

 

  

 
 

 

Page 23



 

Page 24



 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application 2/2018/0493 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: 2/2018/0493 

Valid Date: 16/10/2018 

Location: Land East of Causeway Road, Seaton. 

Applicant: Trustees Of The Copsey Family Trust 

Proposal: Outline application for residential development 
comprising up to 100 dwellings with details of access 
and associated works 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Secretary of State be advised of the Council being minded to grant 
permission subject to the conditions detailed in Annex 1 under the delegation 
of the Planning and Building Control Manager upon the completion and 
signing of a s106 agreement securing the following: 

A. The revocation of planning permission 2/2017/0277. 

B. 20% affordable housing contribution. 

C. Travel plan monitoring contribution -£6,600. 

D. Provision and maintenance of public open space. 

 
1.0           Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The application site is within the 
designated settlement limits for Seaton 
under Part 2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
and overlaps part of a housing 
commitment under the extant 
permission 2/2017/0277. Seaton, as part 
of Workington’s Principal Centre 
designation represents a sustainable 
location for additional housing growth. 
The principle of the scale of this 
development has been accepted 
through the earlier consent which would 
be revoked in the event of the current 
scheme being approved.  

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



Highways  The County Highways Authority note 
that the access details are not reserved 
for subsequent approval and advise that 
a new single vehicular access via Hill 
Farm onto Causeway Road is 
acceptable. The scale of the 
development is also acceptable in terms 
of its traffic generation subject to the 
revocation of the extant permission.  

Flood Risk /Drainage  The proposal seeks to replicate the 
same means of surface water drainage 
as that of the permission, 2/2017/0277, 
with an attenuated discharge into Gale 
Brook.  The discharge rate will account 
for greenfield run off rates and climate 
change. Existing identified blockages 
within the watercourse culverts, which 
would exacerbate flood risk in the 
vicinity of the site, have been 
remediated. The drainage issues have 
been the subject of a peer review by the 
LLFA which concluded that the surface 
drainage aspects could be satisfactorily 
reserved by condition. 

 Trees  The frontage trees to Hill Farm were 
considered of amenity value and 
therefore protected under a Tree 
Preservation Order. 

The insertion of a new estate road 
entrance will regrettably result in the 
loss of 1 category B tree and 2 category 
C trees. On balance, the scale of this 
loss is outweighed by the benefits 
derived from housing delivery including 
the affordable housing contribution (up 
to 20 dwellings). 

S106 Any approval of the outline proposal 
would be subject to a s106 securing; 

A. The revocation of planning 
permission 2/2017/0277. 

B. 20% affordable housing 
contribution. 

Page 28



C. Travel plan monitoring 
contribution -£6,600. 

D. Provision and maintenance of 
public open space. 

(The request by the County Council 
for a financial education contribution 
has been withdrawn since the last 
Panel meeting.) 

 

 
 
2.0 Introduction 
 
2.1 Members may recollect that this application was considered by the 

Development Panel at the meeting in August 2020. It was reported verbally by 
officers at the meeting that the Council had been notified by the Secretary of 
State that he wishes the opportunity to review any Council resolution in order 
to determine whether it should be called in for his determination. The written 
recommendation has been amended accordingly in response to this 
notification. 

 
2.2      At the August 2020 Panel meeting members resolved to defer the application 

to enable engagement between the community and the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) to evaluate in greater detail the merits of the proposal’s 
surface water/flood risk evidence and assess their outstanding concerns.  

 
2.3      Further to this meeting officers have attended a joint virtual meeting with 

representatives of the community and their associated drainage consultants, 
the County Council officers in their capacity as Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) and the applicant and their respective drainage consultants. The 
outcome of the meeting resulted in the LLFA determining that they would 
commission an independent peer assessment to evaluate the details of the 
application, plus the matters being raised in the objection representations. An 
additional virtual meeting was held with the appointed peer assessor 
consultants and the objectors to seek to identify the main subject areas which 
form the basis of their drainage /flood risk objections. The peer assessment 
report was received just before Christmas and has been the subject of 
reconsultation. The findings of the assessment can be found in the drainage 
section of the report and the attached appendix.    

            
2.3      The trees protected by a tree preservation order (TPO) within the grounds of 

Hill Farm have also been the subject of further peer assessments 
independently commissioned by this Council (Members may also recollect 
that at the time of considering the application they were also informed of a 
separate pending tree works application WTPO/2020/0023 for the TPO trees 
at Hill farm, Causeway Rd, Seaton. This tree works application is the subject 
of a separate report on this agenda.  

Page 29



            
          The Proposal  
 
3.1.     Outline planning permission is sought for the erection of up to 100 houses on 

an approximately 3.6 ha area of land on the south eastern perimeter of the 
village. The outline application includes the reserved matters of access 
specifying details of a single vehicular access junction off Causeway Road 
cutting through the curtilage of Hill Farm. In essence, this is a revised 
proposal to an existing permission utilising additional land (within which 
protected trees are situated) to enable access to the existing highway, in lieu 
of the previously proposed access via the former Royal British Legion (now 
omitted from the application site). 

 

3.2 The application is supported by arboriculture, coal mining, ecology, flood 
risk/drainage, ground condition, transport (including interim travel plan) 
landscape/ visual appraisal, affordable housing assessment and illustrative 
masterplan documents. 

 

3.3 The documents for consideration are:- 
 

o 17004_PL100 Rev B Site Location Plan 

o 17004_PL101 Rev B Existing Site Plan 

o Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
o Arboricultural Impact Assessment - Tree Constraints Plan 

o Arboricultural Impact Assessment – Plan 

o Coal Mining Risk Assessment 
o Design and Access Statement 
o Ecological Appraisal  
o Bat Roost Assessment 
o Bat Roost Site Inspection Report 
o Bat Emergence Survey 

o Reptile Survey 

o Addendum to reptile survey report (dated 17/12/20) 
o Revised Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (May 2019) 
o Interim Travel Plan(parts 1-3) 
o Local Affordable Housing Statement 
o Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal 
o Planning Statement  
o Transport Assessment 
o VC0207 001 Rev B Proposed Access Arrangements 

o e-mail dated  13th Feb 2019 re  retention of trees T5 and T10  
o 17004_PL400 ~Rev B Illustrative Masterplan 

 
These can be viewed at;- 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DK3dUAG/220180493 
 

 
 
 

Page 30

file://///abcfp1/planning/Development%20Panel%20Agenda/2021%20Agenda/16-02-2021/Reports/dalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a
file://///abcfp1/planning/Development%20Panel%20Agenda/2021%20Agenda/16-02-2021/Reports/dalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a


4.0 Site  
 
4.1 The site comprises of an area of open agricultural land situated on the eastern 

edge of the settlement on the southern perimeter of the former railway line 
(now used as a cycleway/footpath). 

 
4.2 The site is bounded by residential properties to the south, west and east with 

a public right of way on the eastern boundary of the site that leads to the 
cycle-path (forming the northern boundary of the site). The site excludes an 
area of agricultural land adjacent to the former Royal British Legion. 

 
 
5.0 Relevant planning history  
 
5.1 The current application site was the subject of a request for a screening 

opinion under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017 (ref 
SCR/2018/0005). It concluded that the proposal, when cumulatively combined 
with the other approved extant housing consents in the immediately locality, 
would constitute Schedule 2 development but the sensitivity and scale of the 
developments themselves did not warrant the need for the submission of a 
supporting Environmental Statement. 

 
5.2 A prior approval application (ref 2/2018/0263) for the demolition of the Hill 

Farm dwellinghouse and its outbuildings was granted on 5th July 2018. 
Following the felling of a large mature tree at the rear of the farm a Tree 
Preservation Order was placed on the remaining trees within its grounds. 

 
5.3 Part of the current proposed site overlaps a section of another recently 

approved major housing application (ref 2/2017/0277) for 100 houses on the 
neighbouring agricultural land. This approved site was served by an 
alternative single vehicular access via the former Royal British Legion on 
Causeway Road. A screening opinion for this earlier development also 
concluded it did not require an Environmental Statement under the EIA 
regulations (ref SCR/2017/0001). This outline permission remains extant until 
May of this year (2021). 

 
5.4 In addition an outline permission for another small neighbouring site on 

Camerton Road (ref 2/2017/0278) was granted for 5 dwellings. This 
permission also remains extant. 

 
5.5 A further outline application for 4 dwellings under (2/2017/0279) on the 

southern side of Camerton Road was refused and subsequently dismissed at 
appeal on the grounds of landscape impact and extension of the village. 

 
5.6 A separate application (ref OUT/2019/0017) for 8 dwellings at Beech Grove 

off Causeway Road adjacent to a culverted section of Gale Brook, remains 
pending. 

 
 
 

Page 31



6.0 Representations 
 
 Seaton Parish Council 
 
6.1 The Council notes that this application is in addition to a previous application 

for the same land and includes an overlapping element. It is the Council's 
understanding that more than one concurrent planning permission can't be 
given for the same piece of land and asks for clarification on this. The Council 
has objections to the proposals based on the potential impact of the additional 
properties on the area.  

 
6.2 Access arrangements are considered to be unsuitable, the currently overused 

highways inadequate to support the likely additional traffic, serious safety 
concerns for pedestrians & vehicle users. 

 
6.3 The facilities and the village’s infrastructure are considered inadequate, with 

concerns for the potential impact of flooding in the drainage zone for the site, 
particularly the impact on Gale Brook, and ongoing impact on the surrounding 
area, particularly properties at Barepot. As previously stated, consideration 
should be taken of other properties already coming onto the market in Seaton 
and the cumulative impact of proposed developments on the area's services 
and infrastructure. The Council would like to see published the economic 
viability assessment related to the development proposed 

 

6.4 The Council notes that, of the nine protected trees on the Hill Farm site, the 
application proposed to fell five, presenting a dismissive argument indicating 
that the visual amenity afforded to the area by the trees is unimportant. It is 
considered that this proposal is in conflict with Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
Policy S33 and the National Planning Policy Framework Section 6.33, 
Paragraph 170. For residents of the village, these trees represent a very 
important visual characteristic. It is the Council's view that the TPOs on the 
Hill Farm site are not respected by the developer and their presence seen as 
an inconvenience, rather than a valued asset to the village. It points to the 
disdain shown towards the former presence of an even older tree on the site 
which was felled whilst an application for a TPO was under consideration. 

 

6.5 The proposed access route to the site would impact on the presence of slow 
worms on the site, in contradiction of the provisions of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act, (subsections 9(1) & 9(5) refer). The Council contends that 
permitted access through the route proposed would be in contravention of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Policy S35. 

 
6.6 The Council notes that the ecology reports attached to the application identify 

the presence of bats on the Hill Farm property, contrary to the Demolition 
Prior Notification Covering Letter of 7 June 2016. The Council requests that 
appropriate consideration is given to the mammals' requirements. 

 
6.7 Supports the concerns of Cumbria County Council concerning drainage, it is 

understood the drainage system for the area covering the Grayson (Royal 
British Legion) to Kelsick Park needs to be addressed. The Council consider 

Page 32



that, given the flooding problems experienced by the properties on West Croft 
and Derwent Bank, the whole area affected by tree roots should be dealt with. 
They wish to note that the extent of regular flooding in the area affected the 
footpath between West Croft and Low Seaton is of a severity that warranted 
the County Council to install a raised bridge.  

 
6.8    In response to the LLFA’s recent peer drainage assessment the Parish 

Council advise they do not have the expertise to be able to interpret the report 
but, in addition to its previous concerns with the impact of drainage, it is 
concerned that the flow and amalgamation of surface water drainage in the 
vicinity of the former British Legion building, which leads to flooding in the 
field, that area and the road should be taken into account (supporting photos 
were provided of a recent flood event on Causeway Road’s highway). In 
response to the recent ecological addendum, there is concern that only the 
presence of slow worms has been reported and wonders what other 
ecological issues have been investigated as it is aware bats use the trees and 
buildings in the vicinity of Hill Farm for roosting but this has not been reported 
on.  

 
 ABC Environmental Health 
 
6.9 Seek that conditions be imposed securing a contamination assessment, 

construction management plan and noise insulation measures for any 
properties in proximity to the former Royal British Legion (The Grayson) site. 

 
 Cumbria County Highways  
 
6.10 Further to the submission of amended details it is considered that the splays 

and swept path analysis of the access is acceptable, but seek 2m internal 
pathways and some pedestrian connectivity from the site to avoid 
dependence solely on the Causeway Road access. The Travel Plan is 
acceptable (subject to its s106 monitoring fee - £6600). 

 
6.11 Further to the applicant’s agreement to revoke the existing permission, they 

withdraw their former concerns in relation to cumulative traffic impact. 
 
 Cumbria County Lead Local Flood Authority  
 
6.12 Initially sought additional details seeking a sustainable drainage system with 

detailed calculations on greenfield run off rates, current guidance, two stage 
treatment and the discharge details of the culverted system to Gale Brook 
requiring CCTV footage to demonstrate it was fit for purpose. 

 
6.13 A further response (3rd June 2019) addressed the applicant’s updated 

drainage report (March 2019). As an outline application they consider these 
details are acceptable, but any reserved matters should account for all SuDs 
alternatives. However, evidence had identified the culvert between Kelsick 
Park and Derwent Croft was inadequate. They advised that concentrated 
surface water discharge to the culvert was likely to exacerbate the existing 
flooding issues and therefore sought these defects to be rectified. They 

Page 33



concluded that additional evidence be provided as part of the reserved 
matters: construction details of the paving, individual surface water 
catchments, greenfield run off calculations and a surface water construction 
management plan. It was also recommended that the remediation of the 
culvert be also be secured by way of a Grampian condition. 

 
6.14 Further to Allerdale officers’ concerns on the reasonableness and legal 

enforceability of any such Grampian condition on third party land, the 
applicant further updated their report on the remediation works undertaken to 
the culvert. The LLFA now considers the pipe is in an adequate condition to 
receive water from the proposed site. They are also aware of additional works 
by the Environment Agency in clearing a blockage and improvements to the 
drainage system that have been causing localised flooding. These works and 
those by the applicant will, in their opinion, not increase the risk of flooding 
downstream to Barepot. They seek the existing field drain to link into the new 
drainage run down Causeway Road and planning conditions to secure a 
surface water drainage system (accounting for greenfield run off rates and 
permeable surfaces) and a surface water construction plan. 

 
6.15   The LLFA participated in the virtual discussion meeting following the panel 

meeting. The LLFA subsequently commissioned and published their 
appointed drainage peer consultant report. (See attached appendix) 

 
6.16 The LLFA’s response, following the receipt of their own peer review, to the 

initial drainage consultant’s objection report is as follows: 
            

a) Drainage  
 

           They have looked at the concerns raised by RPG. Although there is some 
discrepancy, they have already asked for changes to this concept design by 
conditioning our requirements. The report does have inconsistencies from that 
of the drawings listed under FRA on the website. The one main factor is the 
use of permeable paving which will be storing surface water. None of this 
capability has been factored by the RPG to make up for any lack of storage 
from the calculations. The LLFA are confident that the concept design can be 
improved and is suitable for the location the development is being built on. 

            
b) Flooding 

 
           Comments regarding existing drainage from the railway line are unfounded as 

they have not seen any possible linkage to the water which gathers the other 
side of the railway embankment and floods into Low Seaton. This concern is 
still on their listing for a solution to be found in the future. 

           It is the LLFA’s understanding that Gale Brook is a contributing factor in the 
flooding because it allows the Derwent to top it up when the Derwent exceeds 
around the back of the village. Gale Brook is culverted into the middle of the 
village past an objector’s house. Therefore the existing flows contribute in 
storm conditions whereas the development will in fact reduce exceedance up 
to a 1 in 100 year plus climate and reduce the amount of flow in Gale Brook. 

Page 34



           In response to an objection representation the LLFA advise that they are not 
not aware of United Utilities opposing the development. In response to the 
applicant’s Qbar calculations the concept design will include permeable 
paving which will increase the storage available. The LLFA accept the 
applicant’s discharge rate and disputes RPG’s claim on this issue. In 
reference to any abandoned land drains, any new development has to pick up 
what drainage is coming from a site and considers this is within the 
development. These drainage details have been included in the details. They 
dispute there is insufficient space for the development storage/sewer works. 
The future maintenance of the culverts in Barepot and the cleared culverts in 
Low Seaton and Gale Brook itself is a separate issue.  In terms of 
exceedance this will be more controlled and, once levels are produced, this 
can be controlled. The comments in relation to Ancient Woodland are not 
relevant. 

 
6.17 The LLFA consider the application has been assessed on its submitted 

details, irrespective of the earlier consent and highlight that the LLFA has 
previously met residents to discuss the site. Any further expansion of the site 
will be assessed at the time of its submission. 

 
6.18    In summary, the LLFA’s final response, responding to the additional 

representations from the objector’s drainage consultant to the peer report. 
(See additional appendix document) concludes the details are acceptable 
subject to specific bespoke drainage conditions. 

 
 Environment Agency  
 
6.19 In response to the applicant’s latest drainage report they advise that, as the 

site in in flood zone 1, the Environment Agency would not normally comment. 
However, they have been engaged in the matter of the historical culverting of 
the downstream watercourse. The applicant’s report advises maintenance 
works on the culvert have been undertaken on the behalf of the riparian 
landowners to improve flows and reduce flood risk; the section of the survey 
between manholes MHO3 and MHO4 has been cleared but the report 
recommends this be lined to reduce the risk of root regrowth,. The 
Environment Agency has permissive powers to undertake works on main 
rivers, but maintenance responsibility ultimately rests with the riparian 
landowners and they would expect additional maintenance activities in the 
first instance. 

 
6.20 The Environment Agency has undertaken a survey of the culvert downstream 

of that surveyed by the applicant and their investigations have confirmed there 
was some root ingress and further blockages in the pipe which required 
excavation and replacement.  

 
6.21 In relation to the effects of maintenance of the culvert on flood risk, the 

removal of the blockages will improve flows and reduce the likelihood of 
localised flooding. However, due to climate change, the volume of water is 
likely to increase including the likelihood of surcharging. To mitigate this they 
are promoting the use of natural flood management techniques within 

Page 35



catchments to slow flows (including the use of SuDs systems) to slow the flow 
and manage run off in a more sustainable manner. Added attenuation is 
needed to allow the site to discharge to the culvert at a reduced rate over a 
longer timeframe. 

 
6.22    The Environment Agency’s response to the LLFA’s peer review document 

reiterates their earlier comments. 
 
 United Utilities 
 
6.23 No objection regarding foul water and surface water discharge from the site 

with standard conditions for further details. 
 
6.24    In responding to the LLFA’s peer assessment drainage report they advise the 

drainage system should accord with the NPPF and NPPG with separate 
systems draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the 
sustainable way. They advise the works are acceptable in principle subject to 
specific planning conditions (see conditions 12 & 26 in the report). 

          They advise the rates of discharge to the local watercourse system is the 
responsibility of the LLFA/ Environment Agency. If wastewater assets are to 
be adopted, their specification needs to be agreed with United Utilities, 
especially as it can influence site levels and layout. They also recommended 
a management and maintenance scheme for major housing development 
proposals.  

 
 ABC Housing  
 
6.25 Seek the development to comply with policy S8 outlining the housing needs of 

the locality. 
 
 Coal Authority  
 
6.26 The site is in a Low Risk Area in relation to former mine workings. 

Recommend standing advice. 
 
 Cumbria Fire Officer 
 
6.27 No objections 
 
 Cumbria Constabulary (Crime Prevention Officer) 
 
6.28 Acknowledge the application is outline and the layout plan is indicative, but it 

is evident that crime prevention has been considered. Reference to garden 
layout, access route public open space, landscaping. The emergency access 
lacks surveillance. 

 
 Natural England 
 
6.29 No objections in principle applying standing advice and with the need for a 

condition to provide a Construction Environmental Management Plan. 

Page 36



 
6.30    Natural England’s comments on the amended ecology addendum is awaited 

and will be reported at the Panel meeting. 
 
 ABC Environmental Protection  
 
6.31 No objection with standard conditions regarding contaminated land further to 

the findings of the Desk Top Study and a construction management plan. A 
noise condition is also recommended regarding an assessment of any noise 
emissions from the social club. 

 
 Workington Flood Action Group 
 
6.32 The group submitted photographic evidence of surface water flooding on the 

application site, along the cycleway, on Causeway Road and along the route 
of Gale Brook and Barepot. They suggest that the proposal needs to be 
considered alongside the approved permissions 2/2017/0277 and 
2/2017/0278 (previously totalling 105 houses).  

 
6.33 The group refer to the flood events in Barepot from the River Derwent and 

Gale Brook in 2009 and 2015 with no previous knowledge of flooding. A bund 
was constructed in Barepot following the 2009 flood to reduce the flood risk 
from the River Derwent. Gale Brook runs through the protected area and 
culverts and deculverts throughout its length. Recent CCTV shows defects 
throughout the culverted sections in Barepot. Gale Brook deculverts in the 
centre of the hamlet i.e. into an open watercourse. Further to the 2015 flood 
event two flap valves were installed on Gale Brook to prevent the River 
Derwent backing up the culvert. The flow from Gale Brook is now restricted 
and slowed at these two locations. In addition, the River Derwent is tidal at 
Barepot impeding the discharge rate from Gale Brook. The Environment 
Agency recognise a solution is required for Gale Brook but, under the current 
funding formula, money is not available to transfer the Brook out of the 
hamlet. There is nothing in place to reduce the flood risk from surface water 
from Gale Brook. There is a warning system for residents in Barepot from the 
Derwent but not from Gale Brook which has no monitoring devices. 

 
6.34 The Environment Agency’s map for Low Seaton identifies a surface water risk 

on the site which extends around the northern boundary (cycleway) with a 
rating of high and medium. The Group consider the submitted report is basic 
given the site’s complexity and discharge into a higher risk flood zone 2/3 
area and is in the NPPF’s more vulnerable category. The Group refer to the 
applicant’s report’s comments that the site is a low risk from secondary 
sources which is disputed with no reference to a former pond on the site that 
was filled approx. 3 decades ago. Flooding on the former railway line is well 
known and the site drains this and the surrounding area. The development will 
increase run off rates into Gale Brook and the potential for flood risk. 

 
6.35 There are known defects in Gale Brook’s culvert which attenuate and slow the 

flow. Repairs will increase the flow of water and its velocity. This could be 
exacerbated by future works by future householders in landscaping areas with 

Page 37



impermeable surfaces. The Group seek the removal of permitted 
development rights. 

 
6.36 The Group also seeks clarification on the future maintenance of the drainage 

system. United Utilities seek capacity for a 1 in 50 year flood event, which is 
not possible. If passed to others it would conflict with a DCLG statement 
issued in December 2014 - if there is a 1in 30 year flood risk it is deemed 
unachievable to meet the minimum requirements for adoption by a utility 
company. 

 
6.37 The Group question details in the report re: estimated values, absence of 

infiltration coefficient, reference to surcharged/ flooding systems, question the 
40% permeability calculation. Greenfield site calculations are unsuitable as it 
fails to account for local knowledge, topography or overland flows with the 
new homes at risk of flooding. 

  
6.38 The Group also challenges the levels, trial pits, topography, drainage details 

of the applicant’s updated drainage report. They have examined the 
Environment Agency’s and LLFA’s response to this application and have 
lodged a formal complaint in relation to these responses. They indicate that 
they have commissioned their own separate independent assessment of the 
submitted details (no details received to date). Reference is made to details of 
a study to explore the rerouting of Gale Brook to address flood risks. 

 
6.39    A further representation was received from the flood group in response to the 

LLFA’s peer assessment.  
           They attended the meeting with the other interested parties and are surprised 

there are no revisions to the application as the applicant conceded their 
calculations were flawed. It is considered the drainage proposals for both foul 
and surface water are not achievable at this stage and have failed to 
demonstrate it will work and dispute that these details should be reserved by 
planning conditions. They seek that laws seeing to protect people and 
property should be upheld.  

 
6.40 The report highlights the considerable risk the development will pose to the 

River Derwent’s SSSI with no evidence how contamination will be separated 
from surface water discharging from the site. 

 
6.41    It is highlighted that the Environment Agency are not a statutory consultee on 

this site  and consider they are under the illusion that the 40% climate change 
allowance will offer safeguards  but the report highlights this is not achievable. 
The discharge rate is for the full site, but the attenuation does not account for 
the flows running through the site through the manhole. The drainage 
consultants suggested this should be used but this was dismissed by the 
LLFA due to time constraints; surely these should be calculated? 

 
6.42 There is the need for CCTV from the manhole upstream and there is a need 

for an accurate AOD for the invert level of this manhole (which has been 
requested throughout the application). There is a lack of due diligence in 

Page 38



checking the documentation by all parties and the report fails to address the 
lifespan of the culverts in Barepot. 

 
6.43 The peer report was commissioned to investigate and advise the LLFA on 

discrepancies in the FRA documentation which were being challenged and 
the Group are dismayed that there is no progress on these issues, especially 
given the attendance and costs to the local representatives. The applicant has 
made no revisions although they conceded there are errors in the report. The 
LLFA did not support the notion of the groups “working together” to achieve a 
satisfactory conclusion to alleviate flood risk to Low Seaton and Barepot.  

 
6.44 Gale Brook is not the only option to drain the site to the River Derwent and the 

Group questions the applicant’s conclusions. They ask members to refer to 
planning application 2/2017/0277 “Surface water drainage is planned from the 
site across the applicant’s land with a piped outfall direct to the river Derwent. 
The solution does not rely on Gale Brook “.  If this cost was feasible for 9 
houses then it must be for 100 houses. 

 
6.45 Reference is made in support to the comments submitted by an objector and 

the additional supporting documents from Campbell Reith’s drainage 
consultant.  

          The objection states the application is more than 3 years’ old, but areas of 
concern remain with a lack of scrutiny with inconsistencies in the submitted 
details. Given the level of representations it is considered insufficient weight is 
continued to be attributed to these concerns and therefore consider the 
proposal should not be recommended for approval 

  
 Derwent Catchment Group  
 
6.46 Initial representation objected to the scheme seeking more detailed site 

investigations to identify pre-development drainage conditions, upland flows 
and discharges to Gale Brook. These concerns were expressed on the 
previous application 2/2017/0277. They considered that a Grampian condition 
was inadequate to deal with such matters. The Group considered that Gale 
Brook was over capacity. 

 
6.47 In response to the latest drainage report they consider the recent remediation 

works reduce flooding to the highway and would result in the speedy removal 
of water from the site. This, they consider, is contrary to para 163 of the NPPF 
“when determining any planning applications local planning authorities should 
ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere”. No details have been 
provided to evidence that there will not be an increased flood risk at Barepot 
Complexities of the site have not been checked including; existing surface 
standing surface water on the site, a former pond and modelling 
underestimating flows, permeability and surface water infiltration tests. It is 
expected on site attenuation to compensate for impermeable areas will be 
undersized and exceedance flows high. 

 
6.48 The repair works remove highway flooding but do not justify the case for the 

new build houses. The standard percentage betterment over and above the 

Page 39



standards for standard drainage do not address the increased rainfall with no 
calculations to compensate for the inadequacies of the assessment of the 
catchment area and its permeability. Consider the proposal should be 
refused.  

 
6.49 A drainage consultant’s report was received on behalf of the residents of Low 

Seaton. The report concluded: 
            

a) For outline planning purposes it is acknowledged that full detailed drainage 
design is not required. 

b) The requirement at outline planning stage is to provide sufficient 
information to demonstrate the site can be drained in a sustainable 
manner. 

c) Infiltration drainage is not feasible due to soil properties. The proposed 
solution outlining discharge to a watercourse is in line with the SuDS 
hierarchy. 

d) The fundamental principles which set discharge rate and attenuation 
requirements should be correct to ensure sufficient provision on site for 
surface water storage. The greenfield runoff rate has been calculated for 
the entire site area, not the positively drained area and is therefore 
inflated. 

e) The proposal will result in runoff from the site exceeding Greenfield Qbar 
due to remaining greenfield areas contributing to runoff, in addition to the 
positively drained areas of the site. Flood risk downstream is therefore 
expected to increase as a result of the proposal. 

f) The storage volume by calculated by the developer is likely to be 
insufficient due to incorrect calculation of allowable discharge rate (the 
over-estimated greenfield rate). 

g) The calculated storage is not provided within the strategy due to incorrect 
volumes attributed to the crates and unrealistic storage locations, depths 
and shapes. 

h) There is no surface water treatment assessment provided. The proposed 
mitigation using permeable paving may be suitable for roads but does not 
address roof runoff. 

i) The proposed depth of gravity sewers within the existing highway may not 
be practical. 

j) The provision of an adoptable drainage system may not be possible due to 
insufficient space within the proposed highway to accommodate the 
proposed oversized pipes, highway drain and foul sewer whilst meeting 
UU requirements. 

k) The requirement for a foul pumping station is likely. There is no provision 
for a pumping station within the site. 

l) The abandonment of the land drain in the site has not been sufficiently 
justified. There are shown to be existing incoming drains which were not 
fully traced in the provided drainage survey. 

m) Insufficient information is provided to demonstrate that drain abandonment 
will not disrupt upstream drainage and lead to increased flood risk. 

 
6.50 In relation to the LLFA’s peer assessment, the report advises that the 

assessment has not addressed the technical issues in relation to the 

Page 40



calculation of greenfield contribution and therefore does not provide the 
reassurance that the site can be drained sustainably. 

  
6.51 The developer has also not demonstrated sustainability in the absence that 

they can fit the storage in the site and have only set a Qbar to the entire site 
area and excludes green area contributions. This results in erroneous 
calculations with storage requirements being underestimated by a very 
significant margin with a high Qbar and a low contributing area which was 
understood to be to be the main purpose of the review and fundamental to 
their objection. 

 
6.52   The objector’s drainage consultant has submitted a further more detailed 

response to the findings of the peer assessment which is an appendix 
document to this report  

. 
           Other representations 
 
6.53 161 objections have now been received from other third parties (an additional 

5 since the report was drafted for the August 2020 meeting of the Panel). The 
objections are summarised in this report, divided into subject matters for ease 
of reference. 

 
6.54 The objections to the principle of the housing and over-arching lack of 

sustainability include the following comments:- 
 

a) Contrary to all of the Allerdale Local Plan’s Strategic Objectives and the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework; this is not 
sustainable development; harm to landscape and amenity value, impact 
on infrastructure, ecology, increase in flooding, vehicular traffic generation, 
adverse impact on highway safety etc.  

b) Contrary to the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1’s Strategic Objective SO1b - no 
evidence of mitigation /adaptation to climate change; increased pressure 
on infrastructure /services. 

c) Contrary to the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1’s Strategic Objective SO1c -
Seaton is annexed from Workington 

d) Contrary to the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1’s Strategic Objective SO1d – 
the site is not accessible to people with mobility issues; large influx of 
development onto the village with strains on infrastructure; the village is at 
saturation point. Disproportionate level of Workington’s housing supply in 
Seaton. 

e) Contrary to the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1’s Strategic Objective S01g - 
loss of agricultural land and green space. 

f) Contrary to the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1’s Strategic Objective SO4 
(public transport) and SO5f (protecting amenity). 

g) Housing proposal is not a renewal or reuse of existing buildings. 
h) The proposal does not meet a housing need with properties for sale within 

the village hindering their sale.  
i) Contrary to Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 as houses start at 

£190k which is not affordable.  

Page 41



j) Masterplan suggests all two storey units, with any single storey units under 
any future reserved matters likely to take up a larger footprint.  

k) Economically Seaton is not within easy walking distance of Workington 
and its town centre, with limited public transport to Seaton. 

l) Inadequate education infrastructure with schools at capacity.  
m) Given the site’s constraints it is considered the wrong location for housing 

development for Workington, with other alternative sites with better 
infrastructure.  

n) Contrary to Local Plan’s objective of seeking inclusive, empowered 
communities and their involvement in the design and management of 
places.  

o) Lack of cumulative assessment with other permissions.  
p) Proposal seeks to generate council tax. 
q) Disproportionate level of Workington’s housing supply in Seaton. 
r) Devaluation of property. 
s) Revocation of the earlier consent under s106 does not prevent its 

resubmission.- proposal should be looked at in its own right with no 
influences from the consent 2/2017/0277into  

t) Affordable houses are not affordable. 
u) Outside settlement limits and the Council has a 5 year housing land 

supply. 
v) Impact on schools including St. Paul’s. 
w) Need to consider the wider impact of the development 
x) Developer’s primary objective is profit 
y) A second large development has been granted on Lowca lane.   

 
6.55 Comments received in relation to transportation and highway safety can be 

summarised as follows;- 
  

a) Hazardous access on Causeway Road; 60m visibility splays are 
inadequate and swept path analysis depicted on the drawings is 
questioned.  

b) The scheme is car dependent with limited alternative bus service 7am -
7pm. The cycleway suffers from flooding hindering cyclists/walkers. 

c) The design and access statement suggests that the parking/garaging 
would not dominate the streetscene but this is contradicted by the parking 
on the frontage of the properties which needs to meet parking ratios. 

d) Access to A66 creates a rat run. 
e) Increased demand for parking, loss of some on-street parking and traffic 

congestion on Causeway Road – hazard to traffic and pedestrians and 
creating gridlock. 

f) Contrary to NPPF –“refuse on transport grounds where residential 
cumulative impacts are going to be severe.” The cumulative impact of 
traffic in the village from the proposal, the Story’s estate and the Lowca 
Lane estate are referenced in this context. 

g) Traffic pictures of empty highways are unrepresentative of existing road 
conditions. 

h) Hazardous location of emergency access which may be misused for 
general purposes. 

i) Inaccurate plan details relating to the footpath near Hill Farm. 

Page 42



j) Challenges to the Transport Assessment modelling and findings. 
k) Two letters recommend that, if approved, given the volume of pedestrians 

using Camerton Road which is hazardous due to its bends, could a new 
footpath be provided from the demolished Legion across the site behind 
the existing houses to the Church footpath? This would provide a safe 
walkway and a buffer to the existing houses to maintain their boundaries. 

 
6.56 Concerns in relation to design, character and natural environment           

considerations are as follows:- 
 

a) In the absence of details of the layout, scale and appearance, there are 
concerns about the Design and Access Statement’s lack of evidence in 
relation to required synergies with adjacent residential development, 
mitigation of any visual impact, acceptability of size and height of house 
types, housing densities, boundary treatments, streetscape and materials.  

b) The layout is out of character. 
c) Loss of privacy. 
d) Contrary to policy S32 of the Local Plan Part 1 as it would result in loss of 

amenity from air and light pollution. 
e) Loss of five trees/hedgerow –harmful impact on streetscene and rural 

landscape /green space /wildlife –contrary to Policy S33 of the Local Plan 
Part 1. 

f) Conflicts with NPPF objective of supporting healthy lifestyles. 
g) Light pollution –reference to Broughton appeal decision 2/2016/07521. 
h) Impact on occupiers of linked houses opposite the access. 
i) Contrary to policies S4 and S5 in relation to environmental quality. 
j) Loss of amenity to existing proposed properties/ loss of view. 
k) Outlook from existing dwellings over new road junction.  
l) Revised ecology report identifies slow worms but excludes 

reptiles/amphibians/red squirrel. The development will result in the loss of 
a site rich in ecology. 

m) Loss of trees causing heave in the area. 
n) Replacement trees will take a long time to replace amenity value. 
o) Lost trees contribute significantly to amenity. 
p) Inaccurate ecological references to ancient woodlands. 
q) An additional objection letter to the ecology addendum report stating there 

is, by virtue of the findings, the potential for slow worms breeding at the 
site and therefore a possible larger colony at the site. The destruction of 
the frontage grounds to Hill Farm will destroy this habitat and repopulation 
will take years. Thus why would the replacement habitat be considered 
when it can be avoided i.e. can the risk be eliminated especially as this 
risk can be avoided by securing access via the extant permission’s 
separate access? It also highlights that the extent of the storage tanks for 
this area has yet to be calculated which may also affect the tree roots. 

 
 
 
6.57 The concerns in relation to flood risk and drainage are summarised follows;- 
 

Page 43



a) Outstanding concerns re foul and surface water drainage including 
disputing the Qbar figure (run off) with higher run off rates and less storage 
attenuation 

b) No consideration of the drainage implications of 2/2017/0278 and the 
pending application at Beech Grove. Increased pressure on flood risk to 
Gale Brook, including downstream in Barepot. 

c) Existing inadequate surface water drainage and sewage infrastructure 
systems. 

d) Lack of permeability in the site. 
e) No maintenance details for the culvert. 
f) All culverts should be suitably lined- proposed lining inadequate. 
g) Local knowledge and weight of knowledge /experience of flooding. 
h) Comparison with Keswick flood defences which failed. 
i) Previous flood events in the locality including flood events in Barepot in 

2009 and 2015.(it is presently unviable to presently relocate the brook 
outside Barepot with no plans for culvert repairs)  

j) Removal of trees will not remove flood risk. 
k) Drainage report identifies remaining spike in the pipeline-no evidence of 

remediation. 
l) Challenge drainage evidence on the small, inadequate size of existing 

pipes, impact of traffic on existing clay pipe, no remedial lining works, poor 
condition of pipework, size of lining, insufficient evidence on the land drain 
implications of the development and upstream drainage, unrealistic 
storage details and question whether these can be spatially 
accommodated, absence of exceedance routes and only has a 12 month 
guarantee.  

m) Lack of future details on the future management and maintenance of Gale 
Brook 

n) Challenge levels technical details submitted re levels /topography –details 
misleading. 

o) Challenge the applicant’s consultant’s comments that it will have no impact 
downstream. 

p) One specific letter of letter of objection was received in response to the 
outcome of the LLFA’s peer assessment and the virtual meetings which 
raised challenges to the submitted evidence. The letter refers to their 
questions submitted in advance of the meeting with the peer assessors 
including:-  
 

i. Will it involve a site visit?; 
ii. Has all the applicant’s and objection consultant’s reports and local 

submissions be considered, and will the results include their 
calculations? 

iii. Is the development acceptable and feasible?; 
iv. Will exceedance flows be reviewed?; 
v. Has the drainage for the central manhole been traced?; 
vi. Will it account for the drainage arising from permission 

2/2017/0278?; 
vii. Will the location of the tanks be affected by the TPO?; 
viii. Question the legacy of the former repairs to the culverts. 

 

Page 44



q) The letter also contests part of the peer report seeking:- 
 

i. Confirmation of the exact discharge rate rather than condition. 
ii. Accounting for urban creep 
iii. Storage requirements need revised as these are unclear –

swales /underground pipes /no space for above ground 
attenuation. 

iv. Clarification of surface water quality with evidence of the 
treatment of the surface water (problematic on estates at Kendal 
and Keswick 

v. Confirmation of exceedance given the dependence on 
underground pipes and hydro-brakes which increases the risk of 
flooding. 

vi. Consider the matter relating to attenuation and maintenance 
should be resolved at this stage rather than reserved by 
condition. 

vii. Question the evidence relating to the land drain to the north 
which has not been surveyed. 

viii. The reports foul drainage strategy section highlights the 
potential flood risks from surcharging of the downstream sewer 
and is not properly addressed in the Flood risk assessment 
document.  

 
 

7.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1 With reference to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development is within Schedule 2 but, 
following screening, has been assessed as not being EIA development. 

 
 
8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014  
 
8.1 The Plan includes a series of Strategic Objectives. These are set out before 

the policies and start on page 14 of the Plan. They echo the strategies in the 
National Planning Polciy Framework, albeit predating the latest iteration of 
that document, and set them in a local (Borough) context. They are 
referenced by objectors as cited in section 6 of this report.  

 
8.2 The following policies are considered to be relevant:- 

 
S1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
S2 Sustainable development principles 
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
S4 Design principles 
S5 Development principles 
S7 A Mixed and Balanced Housing Market. 
S8 Affordable Housing 

Page 45



S21 Developer Contributions 
S22 Transport Principles  
S24 Green Infrastructure  
S27 Heritage assets 
S33 Landscape  
S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage  
S32 Safeguarding amenity 
S35 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity 
S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality 
DM14 Standards of Good Design 
DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

 
 These policies can be viewed at:- 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-
policy/local-plan-part-1/ 

 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 

 
8.3 The site is within the proposed revised settlement limit for the Seaton part of 

the Workington Principal Centre. Most of the site is shown as a commitment 
due to the existence of the extant planning permission. 

 
 8.4 The following other policies are considered relevant:- 
 

SA2 Settlement Boundaries 
SA3 Affordable Housing 
SA5 Housing Standards 
SA33 Broadband 
 
These policies can be found here:- 

 
 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 

 
 
9.0 Other material considerations 
 
          National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 
 
9.1 Paragraph 212 advises that policies in that Framework are material 

consideration which should be taken into account in dealing with the 
applications from the day of its publication. 

 
9.2 Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies 

can vary according to their degree consistency with the framework (the closer 
the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given). 

 
 
 
 

Page 46

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


9.3 The NPPF is available to view at:- 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2 

 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) and the Developer Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
9.4 This document is complementary to the Local Plan Part 1 and was the subject 

of consultation and subsequent approval by members. It sets out the Council’s 
approach to securing necessary contribution via s106 agreements where 
necessary to make the development acceptable and where reasonable to do 
so.  

 
 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 have 
primacy. 

 
10.2 In the context of paragraphs 212 and 213 of the NPPF, it is noted that the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 has now superseded the saved settlement limits of 
the 1999 Local Plan. With Part 2 having only been adopted in July 2020 and 
consistent with the provisions of the NPPF, there is no reason why full weight 
cannot be afforded to it, alongside Part 1. The provisions of paragraph 11 of 
the NPPF are not be engaged.  

 
10.3 Members are advised that the decision should be made in accordance with 

the development plan with no material considerations, such as the NPPF, 
being afforded sufficient weight or reducing the weight of the Plan to such an 
extent that a decision contrary to it could be made.  

 
10.4 There is some conflict between policy S8 of Part 1 and SA3 of Part 2 with 

regards to affordable housing. Policy SA3 should take precedence being the 
more recent part of the development plan and postdating the publication of the 
most recent iteration of the NPPF.   

 
10.5 One material consideration that is afforded a moderate degree of weight in the 

overall balance is the existence of the extant planning permission that covers 
much of the application site and is for 100 dwellings. The weight is tempered 
to a degree by the fact that the permission expires in May of this year (2021). 
It is also tempered by the fact that there are issues which affect the current 
application that were not applicable when the extant permission was 
determined.  

 

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


11.0 Assessment 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1 Policy S1, S2 and S3 outlines the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development, seeking new development to adhere to sustainable principles 
and comply with the Borough’s approved settlement hierarchy. The Local Plan 
(Part 1) establishes the strategic approach to the level of growth and its broad 
distribution across the plan area up to 2029. It also sets out the main role and 
function of different areas through the settlement hierarchy. The role of Part 2 
of the plan is to add detail to this strategy, through the setting of specific 
proposals and ensuring that sufficient land is made available at the right time 
and in the right location.  

 
11.2    Seaton forms part of the Workington Principal Centre for the purposes of the 

Plan (although it is fully recognised that it is a village and separate parish in 
other contexts). As such it is classed by policy S3 as part of Tier 1, expected 
to account for 35% of the overall growth during the Local Plan period (2011-
2029). The Local Plan requires the delivery of at least 5,471 dwellings during 
the plan period and the proposed 100 dwellings are considered a valuable 
contribution to delivering that housing need. Weight is afforded to this benefit 
and that this alternative scheme to that consented will provide another way of 
unlocking this supply using land within the applicant’s control. 

 
11.3 Policy S3 expects this growth to be inside settlements limits and 

commensurate in scale to the size of the settlement and the services that it 
offers. Settlement boundaries mark the physical extent, for planning purposes, 
of a town or village, being the dividing line between the built area (the 
settlement) and rural area (the countryside). They have an important role in 
preventing unplanned expansion of settlements, ensuring development is 
located in the most sustainable location, (in line with the spatial strategy), and 
protecting sensitive areas from excessive or inappropriate development.  

 
11.4 Here the settlement limit clearly reflects the sustainability of the location within 

an acceptable walking distance along lit, segregated footways to junior and 
primary schools, shops, places of worship and assembly as well as bus stops 
served by the Seaton Circular service into Workington (with onward 
connections to Carlisle and Whitehaven (including the general hospitals)). The 
service is not frequent but, in relative terms, is considered to be regular and 
offering sustainable connectivity to wider services and employment. There is 
also the cycle path (metalled along its total route) adjoining the site and 
connecting to Workington town centre, Dunmail Park and other employment 
and service providers.  

 
11.5  With the Local Plan Part 2 being adopted and the inclusion of the site within 

the settlement limits, there is little doubt that there is an expectation that it will 
come forward to make a marked contribution to the provision of housing in the 
Borough cited in policy S3. Indeed, much of the site is shown as a 
commitment in the Plan. However, what is relevant is the level of growth that 
could sustainably be brought forward here. It is acknowledged that Seaton 

Page 48



has been the subject of significant housing commitments during the Plan 
period, noticeably:- 

 
a) The existing permission for much of the site (Causeway Rd Seaton 

2/2017/0277- outline approval up to 100 units). 
b) East of Whitestiles, Seaton (69 dwellings approved 2/2016/0657) - 

under construction.  
c) Lowca Lane 2/2017/0510 -outline for 41 self-build plots. 

 
11.6 Officers acknowledge residents’ and the Parish Council’s concerns in relation 

to this level of development in comparison to other areas of the Principal 
Centre. However, the growth is not confined to Seaton and there are 
significant commitments and/or development plan allocations in High 
Harrington, Stainburn, on the former steel works and on Ashfield Road, 
Workington.  The level of growth is considered to be commensurate in scale 
to this part of the Principal Centre.  

 
11.7 The extant permission is also brought into play here as a material 

consideration with the resultant bearing that 100 dwellings could be supported 
by the existing infrastructure and that which could be secured by a section 
106 agreement. As such, members are advised that the principal of up to 100 
dwellings in this specific locality cannot be reasonably resisted. 

 
11.8 What is an issue is if the land covered by the overlap of the two sites and that 

which wasn’t all came forward and netted in excess of 100 dwellings. 
Members will note that the County Highways Authority, amongst others, 
expresses concerns about this and the supporting documentation only 
assumes that just one of the developments will come forward. In excess of 
100 dwellings is, therefore, untested. This is explained in more detail in this 
report but, at this juncture, it is necessary to advise that a s106 agreement is 
required in the event that members resolve to grant permission. This s106 
agreement would require the surrendering of the existing permission. With this 
in place the principle of 100 dwellings can be supported although a condition 
is also required to specify this as a maximum. 

 
11.9 Consultee responses, specifically from the County Council, reveal that there 

will be an impact on local infrastructure and services arising from the 
proposal. Members may note that the extant permission was subject to a s106 
agreement.  

 
11.10 The County’s original educational sum contribution request was based upon 

109 dwellings with a mix of 10 x 2 bed, 69 x 3 bed, 19 x 4 bed and 11 x 5 bed. 
They had calculated that the development would be home to 11 infant aged 
children, 14 junior and 18 of secondary school age.  They confirmed that the 
site was in the catchment of Seaton Infants (0.54 miles), Seaton St. Paul’s 
Juniors (0.84 miles) and Workington Academy for Secondary Education (2.32 
miles). There was sufficient capacity for primary and secondary school spaces 
but previously had no capacity in the junior school to accommodate any more 
pupils. The County Council had therefore formerly calculated that £223,790 
was required for a new classroom. 

Page 49



           However in their latest consultation response they advise there has been a 
change of local circumstances and there is no longer any shortfall in school 
capacity. The request for this financial education contribution is therefore 
withdrawn and is excluded from the s106 obligation requirements.  

 
 A mixed and balanced housing market and affordability 
 
11.11  Whilst this is an outline application with layout, scale, appearance and 

landscaping reserved for subsequent approval, the Council still needs to be 
sure that a balanced and mixed new community is being delivered with a 
range of housing types and tenures for a mix of household sizes, household 
ages and socio-economic backgrounds. A masterplan has been submitted 
with the application showing a mix of terraced, semi-detached and detached 
footprints of various sizes. This evidences the ability to accommodate such a 
mix within the site, totalling up to 100 dwellings (albeit the following sections 
will evidence some concerns in relation to the overall approach taken by the 
masterplan in terms of layout).  

 
11.12 Policy SA3 of Part 2 Local Plan now requires a 20% affordable housing 

provision for this area with a 50/50 split between rent and low cost, affordable 
ownership. Policy SA3’s adoption is a material change in policy context since 
the determination of the extant permission (which requires 25% provision and 
a 75/25 split in favour of rent). As explained in the weighting section of this 
report, it is policy SA3 that should be followed now and a s106 be required to 
secure the 20% affordable housing and 50/50 tenure split. 

 
 Design, visual amenity and landscape impact 
 
11.13 The illustrative masterplan shows 100 dwellings at a gross density of 28 

dwellings to the hectare (dph).  Whilst a range of dwelling footprints is 
proposed and welcomed to meet policy S7 of the Local Plan Part 1 and public 
open space is also indicated to an extent that appears acceptable, there are 
concerns about the level of parking provision proposed along the plot 
frontages and the lack of street natural landscaping. Officers also question the 
ability to incorporate a SUDs surface water drainage system within the 
indicative layout.  

 
11.14 Any reserved matters applications for layout, landscaping and appearance will 

therefore need to be substantially different, in the opinion of officers, to the 
indicative masterplan. Nevertheless, members are advised that it is possible 
for 100 dwellings of a mix of types and tenure, together with a sustainable 
drainage solution and landscaping and public open space to be 
accommodated within the site. Officers suggest that a Manual for Streets 
approach will be necessary to realise this appropriate solution with an 
abundance of natural landscaping within the public realm, shared spaces, and 
landmarks and a hierarchy of streets rather than the uniform and repetitive 
indicative layout currently proposed. 

 
11.15 In a wider context, the site is well related to the existing settlement with the 

man-made physical feature of the former railway line acting as its northern 

Page 50



boundary. The current revision absorbs an excluded vacant area of 
agricultural land near Hill Farm but, in turn, omits an area of land and the 
access next to the former Royal British Legion. It does not project beyond the 
outer extremities of the earlier approved permission which effectively rounded 
off this section of the village. Wider landscape impact and harm, when 
considering the proposal against policy S33 of the Local Plan Part 1, is 
therefore limited. 

 
11.16 A number of protected trees are affected by the proposal, a consequence of 

this application proposing a revised access arrangement to that previously 
permitted. Policy DM17 seeks to where possible protect trees which contribute 
positively to the character of the area. Further to the felling of a large mature 
tree on the rear curtilage boundary of Hill Farm, the Council designated a 
group of nine trees at the farm site.  

 
11.17 Shortly prior to members’ previous consideration of this application in August 

2020 a tree works application (ref WTPO/2020/0023) was submitted by the 
applicant seeking consent to fell five of the trees within the group, four of 
which were protected under the existing TPO. 

  
11.18 The application was submitted in response to safety concerns from a 

neighbour. This application is independent from the current proposal with 
differing grounds for the felling of the trees. The tree works application has 
since been amended to omit the trees on the frontage application reducing it 
to the felling of two Ash trees on safety grounds.  

 
11.19 Within the applicant’s planning arboriculture report the only tree classed as 

category “A” standard (i.e. more than 40 years and of such high quality and 
value that they are able to make a substantial contribution to the finished 
development) was the felled specimen. Four of the trees (T1, T3, T4 and T10) 
were classed as category “B” (more than 20 years of moderate quality and 
value that are able to make a significant contribution to the finished 
development) and the remainder “C” (minimum 10 years of low quality and 
value and can remain until new planting can be established).. 

 
11.20 The proposal initially involved the removal of 8 trees comprising of 6 

sycamore, 1 ornamental Cherry and an Ash. The Sycamore was the mature 
tree felled at the rear of the site before the making of the TPO and the 
ornamental cherry, which occupies a recessed location in the grounds, was 
not covered by the TPO.  The scheme was subsequently amended to retain 
two of the TPO trees (one which is a category B tree). This results in the loss 
of 3 of the C classification TPO frontage trees (T7, T8 and T9). 

 
11.21 In mitigation the proposal offers eight significantly sized replacement trees in 

an avenue layout on each side of the new estate road. The indicative 
masterplan rather curiously and disappointingly omits this avenue although 
there is clearly scope for its provision within the verges flanking the spine 
road.  

 

Page 51



11.22  Since August 2020, the Council commissioned an independent tree 
consultant to evaluate the trees under the TPO. Officers concur with the 
conclusions:- 

 
a) T7 and T8, despite their individual characteristics, are of amenity value as 

part of the collective group of trees at the frontage of Hill Farm. Therefore 
these two trees are worthy of their TPO status.  

b) The individual Sycamore tree T6 in the south western corner, which was 
withdrawn from the drafted TPO designation on health grounds, due to a 
wound at the base of the tree, could be retained as it still has a projected 
lifespan (subject to regular inspections and some possible  crown 
reduction). As a consequence an additional TPO designation 
(TPO/2020/0014) has been applied to this individual tree. 

c) The applicant assessed T9 as a category C tree. The peer assessment 
advised there was limited information in the applicant’s report but, after 
analysis under British standards, concluded that T9 has a high value as 
part of a group and has a life expectancy in excess of 40 years. It therefore 
has a moderate quality and thus is an alternative category B2 tree.   

 
11.23 The Council also commissioned a further separate final peer tree assessment 

of the applicant’s submission. It concludes:- 
          “However, in the event that the loss of the 3 trees is acceptable when 

outweighed against the benefits of the scheme, then a condition requiring an 
Aroboricutltural method statement (including protective fencing details) is 
required to provide the exact details and method construction of the footways 
within the RPA of the trees with specific reference to T4, T6, T10 and T11. A 
geotextile system should be used within the RPA areas to reduce the adverse 
impact on those trees.” 

 
11.24 The applicant’s report has therefore been thoroughly reviewed by Council 

officers and further to the Council’s instructed peer assessment, officers 
advise that the scoring under the TEMPO methodology that warranted the 
TPO has not changed since it was made and confirmed. T9 should also be 
seen as an additional category B tree. Tree T6 which had been omitted from 
the final order due to its poor health arising from and existing wound and 
decay is now afforded protection by a separate TPO recognising its value.  

 
11.25 In this context, it is not disputed by officers that the trees to be lost are an 

attractive feature within the streetscene and it is their amenity value which 
prompted their protection. The pre-emptive felling of the single category A tree 
prior to the protection being made is disappointing to say the least; a highly 
unfortunate and undesirable move to remove one of the significant constraints 
to the development of the site. This tree already lost and those to be lost are 
an impact that weighs heavily against the proposal and the planting of new 
trees, even Heavy Standard or Semi-Mature stock, will take many years to 
provide the same amenity value as the lost specimens. One can only 
speculate on the timing of the felling of the category A tree but it is curious 
that its demise coincided with the Council’s drafting of the TPO which would 
have afforded it the protection from felling without consent. 

  

Page 52



11.26 The loss of a category B and two category C trees will result in environmental 
harm and would, on its own, be resisted. Nevertheless, on balance, weighed 
against the ability to unlock and deliver this amount of affordable and open 
market housing, the mitigation proposed and the retention of 2 protected trees 
adjacent to the access is considered to provide an acceptable solution. Given 
this context, a condition is required to ensure that the TPO trees will only be 
felled in the event of the commencement of development (thus avoiding any 
potential non-essential felling of the trees if commencement doesn’t occur). 

 
 Sustainability accessibility and Highway safety  
 
11.27 Policy S22 of the Part 1 Local Plan is relevant here. The sustainability of the 

location has already been evidenced in this report with a clear potential for a 
modal-split in favour of non-car trips. Nevertheless, inevitably there will be a 
sizeable number of trips by car and service vehicles to and from the 
development during both the construction and operational phase. The volume 
of objections in relation to the perceived inadequacy of the highway network in 
the locality to cope with the development cannot go unnoticed and 
unconsidered. 

 
11.28 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe. 

 

11.29 The previous approved outline application (which included the reserved matter 
of means of access) incorporated a new vehicular access via the partial 
demolition of the Royal British Legion club with a secondary access for 
pedestrian use and emergency vehicles utilising an existing agricultural 
access onto Camerton Road. The current application substitutes the approved 
access with a new separate detailed vehicular access onto Causeway Road 
via the corridor of the grounds of Hill Farm. Although this building still stands it 
benefits from an extant approval for its demolition 

 
11.30 The application is supported by a Transport Assessment. The assessment 

includes a baseline study of existing road conditions and the surrounding 
traffic infrastructure network. The details of the new junction include a 5.5m 
wide carriageway with radii curbs 1.8m footways. The access would benefit 
from ‘splays which exceed 2.4m x 43m in both directions on each side. 
(although the highway authority’s consultation response recommends 60m 
splays in both directions officers consider 43m splays are more reasonable 
given the site’s location within the statutory 30mph speed limit for the village). 

 
11.31 The technical assessment accounts for; forecast growth, traffic assignment, 

percentage impact assessment, operational junction capacity analysis, 
accident analysis. The submitted traffic generation evidence assessed traffic 
movements in the locality, the impact of the proposal and allowed for 
projections associated with the other approved housing scheme but omitted 
any traffic associated with the earlier major consent 2/2017/0277. 

 

Page 53



11.32 The capacity of the local highway network junctions and the extent of on street 
parking congestion in the wider locality of the site has been evaluated and 
accepted by officers following consultation with the County Highways 
Authority as not having a negative impact, additional traffic flow. Junction 
capacity assessments were requested and provided by the applicant for the 
County’s consideration to assess local traffic conditions. This included the 
coincidental traffic movements to the Club and from adjacent residents. A 
repeat of the original speed survey was also undertaken providing a robust 
review of changes in traffic conditions; there were no material changes. Times 
during the year and weather variations were surveyed; a robust approach that 
withstands examination. 

 
11.33 In summary, whilst the development will noticeably increase trip rates, the 

access details submitted for determination at this stage and the 
accompanying Transport Assessment and Travel Plan demonstrate not only 
the sustainability of the site’s location but also the ability for it to be 
constructed and occupied without unacceptable highway safety impacts or 
severe residual cumulative impacts on the road network. This conclusion is 
caveated insofar as the assessments only consider either the permitted or the 
proposed development coming forward, not them cumulatively. They are also 
subject to conditions to secure highway safety features during the construction 
phase through a management plan and the operational phase through the 
implementation and maintenance of the necessary visibility splays, radii, 
widths, surfacing, lighting and highway drainage. The County Highway 
Authority’s request for a Travel Plan monitoring fee is also reasonable and 
required to make the development acceptable.  

 
 Flood risk and drainage  
 
11.34  Policy S29 of the Local Plan (Part 1) is the relevant development plan policy. 

It is clear that this issue has evolved since consideration of the previous 
application and is at the forefront of many of the third-party objections from 
local residents as well as the Parish Council, the Workington Flood Action 
Group and the Derwent Catchment Group This has resulted in significant 
exchanges in correspondence between officers, the applicant, the County 
Council in their role as Lead Local Flood Authority and the Environment 
Agency. There have also been investigations and remedial works undertaken 
to off-site watercourses.  

 
11.35 Particular foci of attention have been the ability of the Gale Brook to be used 

as the off-site watercourse for surface water, especially the condition of 
culverted sections, as well as the site’s role in the surface water dynamics of 
the former railway line (cylepath/footpath). 

 
11.36 A detailed flood risk assessment, drainage statement and strategy have been 

submitted with the revised application. The local geology of the site and its 
surroundings excludes infiltration e.g. via soakaways and therefore the next 
sustainable option for surface water drainage under the national drainage 
hierarchy is to a watercourse. 

 

Page 54



11.37 Surface water drainage is planned to drain to the River Derwent via the part 
culverted Gale Brook watercourse cited in great detail in many of the 
consultee responses. It was verified by the County Council (as Lead Local 
Flood Authority at the time of considering the earlier application) that the 
recent local flood event which blocked Causeway Road was a result of the 
existing underground highway culvert being partially blocked.  

 
11.38 The existing permission is subject to a Grampian condition to evaluate the 

culvert prior to development commencing on site. The applicant has the ability 
to develop pursuant to this extant permission (subject to the approval of 
reserved matters) but members are advised that this is a new application with 
varied site boundaries and the drainage and flood risk issue should be 
considered on its own merits, albeit the extant permission is a material 
consideration. The issue is considered to be at the heart of the assessment of 
the acceptability of this revised application and a Grampian condition is not 
considered appropriate or reasonable in this context. 

 
11.39  Examining the issue in greater detail, there is the query as to whether the 

applicant’s assessment had adequately addressed the assertion that a 
manhole and former pond in the centre of the field pointed towards the 
connectivity between the railway cutting’s surface water drainage, the site and 
Gale Brook. Development of the site could have the potential to adversely 
affect this dynamic. The County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 
consequently requested additional detailed evidence to verify these issues. 
The applicant subsequently submitted an updated FRA (May 2019) seeking to 
address the concerns of the objectors. 

 
11.40 The initial conclusions of the investigations by the County Council’s LLFA and, 

therefore, by officers were:- 
 

a) The railway cutting drains to a ditch along its northern edge of the 
metalled path, which flows in a westerly direction away from the 
application site. The outfall is into a small culvert near Seaton Rangers 
ARLFC. 
 

b) The catchpit on the south-east corner of the site was shown to flow 
away from the central catchpit in a south-westerly direction, confirming 
that this doesn't connect to the central catchpit within the proposed 
development area. 

 

c) The catchpit in the centre of the site does drain to the Gale Brook 
culvert and this was proved via dye testing. 

 

d) There are 3 small inlet pipes into this central catchpit (150mm and two 
100mm pipes) which appear to only be used for land drainage as there 
doesn't appear to be any notable water source connected to them 
upstream. The assumption that they are in fact land drains is supported 
by the fact that the majority of the flow into the central catchpit was 
observed to be from inlet 3 .Further upstream there is a large area of 
standing water on the assumed line of the pipe for inlet 3). The 

Page 55



assumption is that this standing water is what is causing the flow into 
the manhole as it drains through the ground and into what is assumed 
to be a perforated pipe. 

 

11.41 It can robustly assumed that the only existing surface water drainage flowing 
through the site and outfalling into Gale Brook is from a series of land drains 
within the development site. The flow and volume off site into the Brook can 
be attenuated with the on-site storage and a form of throttle/brake on the 
outfall off-site to regulate flow.  

 
11.42 The focus of the assessment therefore moved to the adequacy of Gale Brook 

itself and the implications of any works required on downstream property. The 
applicant accepted the LLFA requests for a CCTV survey of the underground 
culverted section of Gale Brook identifying any remedial work required, a two-
stage treatment, allowance for a 1 in 100 year flood event plus an additional 
40% allowance for climate change. The updated FRA included CCTV surveys 
of the drains from the manholes on each side of Causeway Road as part of 
the link to the underground culverted section of Gale Brook. 

 
11.43 These were incomplete as the sewers site were presently blocked by debris 

and root mass and possible collapse. However, the Environment Agency 
examined the lower of the two culverts at the rear of Milburn Croft as they 
considered part of Gale Brook’s main river designation fell under their 
responsibility and undertook their own independent inspection of this separate 
culvert. They latterly decided that the upper covered culvert section at the rear 
of Kelsick Park (with the exception of the underground section under 
Causeway Road which, being within highway limits, remained under the 
County Council’s control) also fell under their remit and expanded their 
investigations to ascertain the condition of this additional culvert. 

 
11.44 The net requirement arising from the surveys was that identified blockages 

needed to be cleared to restore the flow path and capacity. Although the legal 
responsibility of the maintenance of any underground pipe falls to the 
respective riparian landowner, the applicant decided to voluntarily repair the 
identified blockages to the upper culvert. 

 
11.45 The applicant’s updated report also refers to additional lining of the culvert 

pipe to maintain flow and prevent ingress from roots etc. However, this work 
has not been implemented. Officers consider the imposition of such additional 
lining works as unreasonable as the applicant has remedied the elements 
(blockages/roots) which may have resulted in the development exacerbating 
flooding in the area. The responsibility for the long-term maintenance of this 
existing feature alternatively falls on the riparian landowner. The removal of 
the remaining obstacle in the culvert (a utility services’ supporting wires spike) 
can be secured by a condition as this part is within the applicant’s control. 

 
11.46 Downstream the Environment Agency have also repaired a significant 

blockage in the lower culvert and will undertake any necessary additional 
repairs following CCTV surveys. 

 

Page 56



11.47 Strong representations have been received from objectors (including 
Workington Flood Action Group) on the potential implications arising from the 
removal of the blockages which they consider will increase flows and velocity 
of water down Gale Brook. In response, officers highlight that such 
maintenance is required anyway to ensure that proper functioning of the 
drainage system; the application has led to the clearance of the blockages but 
this should have occurred anyway. Members are also reminded that the on-
site attenuation and brake mechanisms will regulate flow off the site into the 
Brook to the existing levels up to a 1 in 100 year event (with an added storage 
allowance for climate change). 

 
 11.48 It was however evident at the Panel meeting that, given the conflicting views 

on this subject, members sought additional local discussion and evaluation on 
the flood risk / surface water drainage matters. Further to the meeting a joint 
virtual meeting was held with all the main drainage representatives to 
endeavour to clarify and analyse the drainage aspects of the development as 
highlighted above. As no conclusions were agreed, the LLFA agreed to 
commission a peer assessment which would provide an independent 
unbiased appraisal of both the applicants and objectors evidence. 

 
11.49 A copy of the peer assessment document is attached as an appendix 

document to this report. It sought to comprehensively address the 
drainage/flood risk merits of the scheme and respond to the main points 
raised by the objectors which were verified in a virtual meeting.  

          The report concluded that the drainage strategy proposed was acceptable, 
and, whilst some aspects e.g. foul drainage required verification, its concepts 
could be satisfactorily relied upon and the detail secured by surface water 
drainage planning conditions. This would enable a more detailed and robust 
assessment when the details of any future reserved matters housing 
application has been submitted i.e. any future drainage scheme would likely 
be submitted in conjunction with any reserved matter scheme. Officers 
highlight that similar surface water conditions have been applied to other 
major housing estate development elsewhere in the Borough e.g. Stainburn, 
and Strawberry How, Cockermouth. 

 
11.50 Given sustained objections not being withdrawn following the publication of the 

LLFA commissioned peer assessment, officers requested that the LLFA 
requested a further, supplementary response by them to incorporate the 
relevant fundamental measures specified within the peer assessment 
conclusions and where possible to verify the respective thresholds. 

          The LLFA’s latest response (see appendix) confirms their agreement with the 
findings of the peer review and seeks to address the points raised by the 
objectors. It concludes a stance of “no objections” to the scheme subject to 
bespoke conditions specific to this individual site. 

 
11.51 In summary, officers attribute significant weight to the response of the LLFA 

especially given the additional evaluation under the peer assessment 
drainage. Therefore, subject to their recommended planning conditions, the 
drainage strategy proposed is considered acceptable and the off-site works 
already undertaken in conjunction with an on-site system implemented in 

Page 57



accordance with this strategy will ensure no increase in flood risk arising from 
the development.  

 
11.52 Foul drainage is planned to discharge by gravity flow to the main sewer with a 

connection in Camerton Road. United Utilities do not object and this is the 
sequentially preferred method for dealing with foul water.  

 
 Ecology and biodiversity  
 
11.53 Policy S35 of the Local Plan Part 1 seeks to ensure development safeguards 

any aspects of biodiversity value.  
 
11.54 The application is supported by an ecology survey (June 2018) and additional 

detailed surveys on bats and slow worms. It has not been peer reviewed on 
behalf of the Council but, having knowledge of the site and its character 
throughout all of year (over the 4 seasons), it is considered to be robust. Its 
conclusions are as follows:- 

 
a) Badgers – No evidence. 

 
b) Amphibians – No breeding ponds identified on site and Hill Farm’s 

garden pond is sited within a walled garden. It is therefore considered 
of negligible value for amphibians. 

 
c) Bats - The site has little potential for foraging by bats but there is likely 

to be such activity along the wooded corridor of the disused railway 
line. Historically the suitability of the site for habitation by bats was 
assessed in detail with a bat roost suitability report in Jan 2018 which 
concluded the suitability of the outbuildings and grounds of Hill Farm 
for roosting by bats were low and negligible respectively with the 
likelihood that they are not present. A more robust emergence survey 
was undertaken in August 2018 which confirmed the occasional 
presence of a small roost used by a single Pipestrelle bat under loose 
flashing on the northwest corner of Hill Farm’s northern chimney stack, 
whilst other bats (including different species) were observed foraging 
around the grounds. Although the consultant considers the roost 
structure as being of low conservation significance it will require a 
licence. Members may recall from section 4 of this Development Panel 
report that there is approval for demolition of the relevant buildings but 
it is reasonable to require bat boxes in nearby trees within the 
applicant’s control.  
 

d) Reptiles – (common lizard, slow worm, adder and grass snake) - Four 
small areas of uncultivated land within the application site could be 
used as suitable habitat by reptiles with reports of slow worms in the 
locality. Seven surveys were undertaken, two of which identified a slow 
worm in the northern spur section adjacent to the public right of way to 
the Bowling Club/Village Hall. The surveys considered that there may 
be connectivity with the area of land fronting Hill Farm via the 
intervening neighbouring domestic garden. Slow worms may hibernate 

Page 58



in stone walls around the farmhouse and the rubble hedge bank at the 
front of the site. The recommended mitigation includes seasonal 
dismantling of walls/removal of hedge under an ecological clerk of 
works supervision and a biodiversity protection zone (via a Biodiversity 
management plan and a construction environmental management plan. 
Since August 2020, the applicant has reviewed the evidence relating to 
slow worms within the grounds of Hill Farm, especially given the 
objectors’ references. In a recent addendum, the applicant’s ecologist  
states that, during the survey, the protected species of slow worms 
were identified in the north east corner of the site, but were not found 
elsewhere on the application site. As a precaution the front garden 
which includes the proposed access had initially been included in the 
mitigation plan to connect habitat and safeguard against any impacts 
from implementing the new road (thus fencing it off and reinstating/ 
managing the area  upon the completion of the works). The addendum 
withdraws the fenced off area at the frontage advising none of the 
protected species were found in the surveys and that the original 
initiative was solely a precautionary measure. It supports a requirement 
for a Biodiversity management Plan. This would allow to confirm 
mitigation and account for any realignment to accommodate drainage 
plus create a habitat in this area suitable for this species.  

 
11.55 The ecological aspects of the scheme have been examined in detail and are 

considered acceptable subject to the imposition of mitigation conditions under 
a Biodiversity Management Plan and Environmental Construction 
Management Plan. As such there is accordance with policy S35 of the Local 
Plan Part 1. The details of biodiversity net gain can be agreed within the 
landscaping, appearance and layout reserved matters.  

 
11.56 Any potential pollution arising during construction works including any possible 

discharge to the watercourse and the downstream designation of the River 
Derwent’s SSSI has been safeguarded under the proposed Construction 
Management Plan (condition 14 j) 

 
 Residential amenity  
 
11.57 Policy S32 of the Local Plan Part 1 seeks to safeguard amenity. 
 
11.58 The issues arising from the siting, scale and outlook of any future dwellings on 

the application site would fall to be considered at the reserved matters stage. 
What can be concluded is that the amount of development, 100 dwellings, 
would permit the necessary separation distances between dwellings to be 
achieved and an appropriate amount of private space. 

 
11.59 There will be noise and disturbance to existing residents arising from the 

vehicular trips to and from the site but, examining the predicted trip rates and 
routes and how existing dwellings and their gardens are positioned and 
orientated to these roads, it is not considered to be a significant amenity 
issue. 

 

Page 59



11.60 A condition applied to the previous outline housing application relating to 
noise attenuation measures has been excluded given the recent demolition of 
the Royal British Legion premises.  

 
 Contamination  
 
11.61 The proposed site is located within the Coal Authority’s low risk consultation 

zone. A Phase 1 Desk Top Study and Phase 2 Site Investigation Methodology 
Report have been submitted. Allerdale’s Environmental Protection Manager 
has accepted the findings and recommends standard conditions safeguarding 
remediation and verification. 

 
 Financial implications 
 
11.62 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal 

will have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council 
Tax Revenue 

 

12.0 Balance and Conclusions 

12.1 There are no material considerations, such as the NPPF, being afforded 
sufficient weight or reducing the weight of the development plan to such an 
extent that a decision contrary to it should be made.  

 
12.2 The proposal has been considered against the provisions of this plan, which 

now comprises of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and Part 2 (2020). 
There are adverse impacts arising from the proposal, notably the loss of trees 
of such amenity value that they are currently protected. There is also 
irrevocable landscape change, albeit this will be contained to a very local 
level. The indicative plans have failed to demonstrate how the 100 dwellings 
can be accommodated within the site with the necessary sustainable 
drainage, landscaping and public open space. Nevertheless, at the density 
proposed officers are content that this can be achieved at the reserved 
matters stage to accord with policies S2, S4 and S33 of the Local Plan Part 1 
(2014). 

 
12.3 Other matters can be mitigated by condition of through a section 106 

agreement. 
 
12.4 Weight is afforded to the benefit arising from the supply of 100 dwellings and 

that this alternative scheme to that consented will provide another way of 
unlocking this supply using land within the applicant’s control. 

 
12.5 On balance, the proposal is considered acceptable and accordant with the 

provisions of the development plan. 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



RECOMMENDATION 

That the Secretary of State be advised that the council would be minded to 
grant permission subject to the conditions detailed in Annex 1 under the 
delegation of the Planning and Building Control Manager upon the completion 
and signing of a s106 agreement securing the following: 

A. The revocation of planning permission 2/2017/0277. 

B. 20% affordable housing contribution. 

C. Travel plan monitoring contribution -£6,600. 

D. Provision and maintenance of public open space 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. Prior to the commencement of development details of the layout, scale 

and appearance, and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

       Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Development Procedure) Order 2015. 

  
2. The submission of all reserved matters referred to in condition 1 shall be 

made no later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this 
permission and the development shall begin no later than whichever is the 
later of the following dates: 
 

       (a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or  

       (b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 
the last such matter to be approved. 

 
       Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. 
 
3. This permission is for no more than 100 dwellings. 
 

Reason: This is the site’s development capacity taking into consideration 
prevailing development densities, landscape and built environment character, 
the need to provide a mix of dwelling types, public open space, highways 
infrastructure including parking, landscaping and to accord with policies S2 and 
S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  

 
4. Any application for the layout reserved matters shall include plans 

showing the following: 
 

       (a) Cross sections through the site; 
       (b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels; 
       (c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings; 
       (d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas; 
      
 and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 

approved. 
 
       Reason: There are site level changes and such detail is required to ensure that 

the development is acceptable with regards to the relationship between 
dwellings within the site, open space, highways and neighbouring uses 

Page 62



including existing dwellings and to accord with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1 2014. 

  
5. The reserved matters applications for layout and appearance shall 

demonstrate that 20% of the overall scheme will be designed and 
constructed to meet the requirements set out in optional Building 
Requirement M4(2) (or any equivalent standard should these regulations 
be subsequently reviewed). 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Policy SA5 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2. 

 
 
In Accordance: 
 
6. Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential 

development of up to 100 dwellings (as per condition 3), the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans/details: 
 

17004_PL100 Rev B Site Location Plan 
17004_PL101 Rev B Existing Site Plan 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment - Tree Constraints Plan 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment - Plan 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment 
Design and Access Statement 
Ecological Appraisal  
Bat Emergence Survey 
Reptile Survey 
Addendum to reptile survey report (dated 17/12/20) 
Revised Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (May  2019) 

      Desktop Study 
      Interim Travel Plan(parts 1-3) 
      Local Affordable Housing Statement 
      Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal 
      Planning Statement  
      Transport Assessment 
      VC0207 001 Rev B Proposed Access Arrangements 
      e-mail dated  13th February re;  retention of trees T5 and T10  

 17004_PL400 ~Rev B –access  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
principles contained within these documents and to accord with the sustainability 
pricniples of policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. 

 
 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
7. With the exception of the requirements of condition 8, no development 

shall commence until details including longitudinal/cross sections of the 

Page 63



carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways (including the pedestrian 
and EVA links to Camerton Road) and the associated and drainage and 
lighting to serve this development, have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
       Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 

highway safety and to accord with polciy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 
2014. 

 
8. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing 

clear visibility of 43 x 2.4 x 43 metres measured down the centre of the 
access road and the nearside channel line of the existing County highway 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the County 
highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no 
development shall be erected and no trees, bushes or other plants shall 
be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay.  

 
       Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  
  

9.    Prior to the commencement of development details of the proposed 
crossings of the highway verge and/or footway for the emergency access 
onto Camerton Road shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval. The details shall include measures to prohibit through traffic 
shall also be provided. No dwellings shall be commenced until the 
crossing has been completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 
       Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  
 
10. Prior to commencement of development, a Construction Method 

Statement for Highway Safety, including details of all on-site construction 
works, post-construction reinstatement, drainage, mitigation, and other 
restoration, together with details of their timetabling, shall be submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority and shall include measures 
to secure: 

       a)  formation of the construction compound and access tracks and any 
areas of hardstanding; 

       b) cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 
       c) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage 

or deposit of any materials on the highway; 
       d) post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas 
      
 The Construction Method Statement shall be carried out as approved. 
        
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  
 

Page 64



 
11.  Prior to commencement of development a Construction Traffic 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The CTMP shall include details of:  

       a)  the construction of the site access and the creation, positioning and 
maintenance of associated visibility splays; 

       b) details of any temporary access gates that should be hung to open 
away from the public highway no less than 10m from the carriageway 
edge and shall incorporate appropriate visibility displays; 

       c)  proposed accommodation works and where necessary a programme for 
their subsequent removal and the reinstatement of street furniture and 
verges, where required, along the route; 

       d) the pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 
Highway Authority representative; 

        e) details of any temproary proposed crossings of the highway verge; 
       f) retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvering, loading and unloading 

for their specific purpose during the development including the provision 
of parking spaces for residents and visitors 

       g) construction vehicle routing; 
       h) the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 

and other public rights of way/footway; 
        i) the scheduling and timing of movements, temporary warning signs and 

banksman 
        
       The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

Construction Traffic Management Plan. 
 
       Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  
 
12.   No development shall take place until a detailed surface water scheme 

has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The 
detailed surface water drainage scheme shall: 
a) Be in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood risk 

assessment Statement dated 10th May 2019 proposing surface water 
into Gale Brook (for the avoidance of doubt , no surface water shall 
discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly);  

b) Be in accordance with the Non –Statutory Technical Standards for 
sustainable Drainage systems (March 2015) or any subsequent 
replacement national standards; 

c) Set out drainage provision for both developed and undeveloped areas: 
d) Demonstrate that the greenfield run-off rate for discharge shall not 

exceed 26.99l/s; 
e) Provide appropriate storage space to attenuate run –off site; 
f) Show flow paths of exceedance routes from a 1in 100 year plus climate 

change event so as to demonstrate they will not affect properties on or 
off-site; 

g) Include details of how drainage infrastructure shall be managed and 
maintained after completion). 

Page 65



The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
       Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 

manage the risk of flooding and pollution from surface water in compliance with 
policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
13.  No development shall commence until a Construction Surface Water 

Management Plan (including details of the removal of the utility service 
spike within the existing underground culvert) has been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The utility spike shall be 
removed and the culvert repaired to the satisfaction of the local planning 
authority prior to any construction works on the site and the development 
shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 
       Reason: To safeguard against flooding to the surrounding sites and to 

safeguard against pollution of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems 
in compliance with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  

 
14. Prior to development (or relevant phase of development), a Construction 

Method Statement (Residential Amenity) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall 
include the following:  

       a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic;  

       b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.  

       c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution.  

       d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected 
species during construction.  

       e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;  

       f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition;  

       g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;  
       h) Hours of working and deliveries;  
       i) Details of lighting to be used on site.  
       j) Surface surface water management plan including appropriate flooding 

and pollution prevention guideline measures to include biosecurity, 
materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the control and 
management of noise, dust, surface water run-off and waste to protect 
Gale Brook and any surface water drains from sediment, and pollution 
from cement or fuel. 

 
       The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 

the construction pahse of the development. 

Page 66



       Reason : In the interests of general local amenity and in the interests of 
safeguarding ecological interests and biodiversity, safeguard against flooding 
the to the suuroounding sites and to safeguard agianst pollution of surrounding 
watercourses and drainage systemsin compliance with Policy S29, S32 and 
S35 of the Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
15. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 

necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been 
carried out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its 
potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The 
scope of works for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement. 

  
       Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 

any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
16.  Prior to commencement of works a Biodiversity Management Plan 

(including a Environmental Construction Management plan) shall be 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authoity . The plan shall 
include details on measures and details to be implemented during and 
after the course of construction works at the site to safeguard the habit of 
protected species at the site in accordance with the principles and 
recommendations of the Brooks Reptile survey (June 2018) and Brooks 
Ecological appraisal (June 2018) and Addendum to reptile survey report 
(dated 17/12/20). The works shall be implemented solely in accordance 
with the approved details and thereafter managed at all times in 
accordance with the approved scheme.   

        
 Reason : In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in 

compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 . 
 
17.  No development shall commence until a plan has been submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority to show all existing trees which 
are to be retained, together with the positions and height of protective 
fences, the areas for the storage of materials and stationing of machines 
and huts, and the position and width of temporary site roads and 
accesses. The details so approved shall be implemented prior to the 
commencement of the development and maintained at all times during the 
construction period. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the existing 
trees on the site prior to any excavation/construction works on the site in 
compliance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
18.   The felling of the TPO trees T6, T7 and T8 on the applicant’s arboricultural 

assessment  shall only be undertaken upon the commencement of 
development following the approval of all reserved matters. 

 

Page 67



        Reason : To minimise the impact of the development on the visual amenity of 
the area in compliance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
given that the felling can only be justified when balanced against the benefit of 
bringing forward the permitted dwellings. 

 
19.  Prior to the commencement of works an Arboricultutral Method Statement 

(including any protective fensing details  and works within the Root 
Protection Atreas of the trees protected under Tree Preservation Orders) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local plannning authority. The 
works shall solely be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
       Reason : To minimise the impact of the development on the visual amenity of 

the area in compliance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014. 

 
Post commencment  
 
20. Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable 

risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, 
development shall stop and not resume until a detailed remediation 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation 
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of 
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 

        
 Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 

any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
21. Should a remediation scheme be required as per condition 19, the said 

scheme shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 
development resuming on site or to a timetable as otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

 
        Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 

any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
22.  Monitoring shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Interim 

Travel Plan and the results of the monitoring shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority within one month at the end of each monitoring 
period. Where targets are not achieved the Travel Plan Co-ordinator will be 
notified in writing and the Travel Plan shall then be reviewed and updated 
and submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval within one 

Page 68



month of the receipt of the notification. The updated Travel Plan shall be 
implemented within one month of the date of approval.      

 
       Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives and ensure 

that the local road network continues to fulfil its purpose as part of the national 
system of routes for through traffic, in accordance with policy S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. 

 
23.  In the event that any drainage infrastructure systems not previously 

documented within the application submission are uncovered during the 
development of the site, then they shall be documented in detail. No works 
shall take place to remove, obstruct or redirect any element of the 
previously undocumented drainage system until a revised and updated 
drainage scheme that takes the presence of this into account has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning authority. For 
the avoidance of doubt, any drainage infrastructure /systems not 
previously documented shall be dealt with at source and taken into the 
drainage system proposed for the site or passed on seamlessly beyond 
the site. The works shall thereafter solely be implemented in accordance 
with the approved updated scheme. 

 
       Reason ; To safeguard against flooding to the surrounding sites and safeguard 

against pollution of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems in 
compliance with policyS29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
Prior to occupation 
 
24. No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road including footways and 

cycleways to serve that dwelling has been constructed in all respects to 
base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate 
road has been provided between that dwelling and the existing public 
County highway and brought into full operational use. 

       
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.. 
 
25. Excluding the emergency access , vehicular access to the approved 

development site hereby approved shall solely be via the approved access 
via Hill Farm onto Caueway Road. 

 
       Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.. 
 
26. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that dwelling shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority of 
either:- 

  
a) Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to broadband 

infrastructure providers during the construction process to allow the 
providers to install the necessary broadband infrastructure; or 

Page 69



 
b) Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure providers, 

that it is not practicably or viably possible to install broadband 
infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by Government 
standards) fibre broadband connectivity. 

 
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by Government 
standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with policy SA33 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (2018). 

 
27. Prior to the occupation of the development a sustainable drainage 

management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development  
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a 
minimum: 
 
a) Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or management and maintenance by a reisidents’ management 
company: and  
b) Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements 
of the sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface 
water drainage system throughout its lifetime.   

 
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for a 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution 
during the lifetime of the development and to accord with policy S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014).  

 
 
  

Page 70



 
 
 
  

Page 71



  

Page 72



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0009 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2021/0009 

Valid Date: 18th December 2020 

Location: Land at Lillyhall North, Branthwaite Road, Winscales, 
Workington 

Applicant: Allerdale Borough Council 

Proposal: Hybrid application- Full planning permission is sought 
for the construction of a new roundabout, site access 
and spine road and the extension to existing 
pedestrian/cycle path. Outline permission for the 
erection of a variety of industrial, storage, research 
and development and industrial process use buildings 
(Use classes B2,B8, E(g)ii E(g)iii).  

 

RECOMMENDATION  

Grant with conditions, subject to receipt of signed Unilateral Undertaking for 
Travel Plan monitoring fee.  

 

1.0         Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of development The site is allocated within the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 2 for employment uses 
and the proposal accords with that 
allocation. Therefore the proposal is 
acceptable in principle.  

Economic benefits The proposal secures funding to facilitate 
the infrastructure necessary to develop the 
site and make it more attractive and 
economically viable for private investment. 
Estimates suggest the site could generate 
approx. 369 full-time equivalent (FTE) 
jobs. The economic benefits of the 
proposal are afforded significant weight.  

Landscape and Visual Impacts This is a large site in an elevated location 
when viewed from the east. It is 
considered that the extension of the 
existing industrial estate onto this site 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



would not be out of character with the 
landscape character of the urban fringe. 
The site is considered to be of sufficient 
distance from the designated Lake District 
National Park and World Heritage Site 
such that the proposal would not impact to 
any significant degree on the setting of the 
National Park or views from within it.  
Visual amenity impacts can be minimised 
to an acceptable level through additional 
landscaping to the eastern boundary and 
careful consideration of levels, scale and 
layout at the reserved matters stage. 

Sustainability, Access and Parking The site is considered to be in a 
sustainable location, with access to regular 
public transport and abuts a segregated 
cycleway with unbroken connections to 
Workington and Whitehaven. The 
Highways Authority has confirmed that the 
roundabout access arrangements are 
acceptable and Highways England have 
raised no concerns with the proposal. 
Suitable levels of parking provision can be 
secured at the reserved matters stage.  

Ecology The application has been supported by an 
Ecological Appraisal which is considered 
sufficient to demonstrate that the proposal 
would not have significant adverse effects, 
subject to further ecological survey and 
mitigation measures for the wider 
commercial development.  

Heritage No significant effects anticipated to nearby 
heritage assets. 

Ground conditions Former coal workings pose a risk to 
development. The Coal Authority and 
Environmental Health recommend 
appropriate conditions for site investigation 
and remediation.  

Flood Risk The site is at the lowest risk of flooding 
being within flood zone 1 (FZ1). Surface 
water drainage will be restricted to 
greenfield run off rates plus the required 
allowance for climate change. Full details 
to be secured by condition.  

 

Page 74



2.0      Proposal 
 
2.1 A hybrid planning application has been submitted and relates to the commercial 

development of 9.9 hectares of grazing land for the following use classes; E(G)(ii) 
Research and Development of products or processes, E(G)(iii) Industrial 
Processes, B2 General Industrial and B8 Storage and Distribution. The 
commercial development of the site has been submitted in outline only. An 
indicative layout plan has been provided, demonstrating how the site could be 
laid out, with an indicative gross floor area of 33,779sqm. The indicative plans 
suggest 371 parking spaces, with additional motorcycle and cycle parking. A new 
bus stop is proposed on Branthwaite Road.  Full permission is sought and 
detailed plans are provided for the access infrastructure works, including a new 4 
arm roundabout onto Branthwaite Road and Joseph Noble Road, details of the 
internal spine road and surface water drainage arrangements (including retention 
ponds). Due to the topography of the site, these works will include some 
earthworks and re-grading of the land.   

 
2.2 The application has been supported by the following plans: 
 

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01000_P1_Location Plan  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01001_P2_Existing Site Plan  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01200_P5_Indicative Site Layout- Outline Planning 
Application  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01201_P2_Proposed Site Plan - Full Planning 
Application  

 A118524 002C Spine Road Preliminary Levels & Long Section  

 A118524-100D Roundabout General Arrangement  

 A118524-101E Link Road General Arrangement  

 A118524-TR001A Site Access Swept Path Analysis  

 B023857-WYG-00-XX-DR-S-0100_P01_Proposed Drainage  

 C7802-TLP-00-XX-DR-E-801A_Roundabout Site Plan External Lighting 
Layout  

 C7802-TLP-00-XX-DR-E-802_Spine Road Site Plan External Lighting Layout 
 

The plans and particulars can be viewed at:- 
 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DVrzUAG/ful20210009 
 

2.3 The application has also been supported by a number of reports: 
 

 Road Safety Audit  

 Transport Assessment and Workplace Travel Plan  

 Geo Environmental Desktop Study  

 Preliminary Coal Mining Risk Assessment  

 Ecological Appraisal  

 Economic Appraisal  

 Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment  
 

Page 75

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DVrzUAG/ful20210009
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DVrzUAG/ful20210009


 
 

3.0      Site 
 

3.1 The proposal relates to a large, greenfield site beyond the northern extent of the 
existing Lillyhall Estate, which comprises a mix of industrial, commercial, R&D, 
educational and training uses, and is a key employment site for West Cumbria.  

 
3.1 The site constitutes three fields on rising land to the north of Branthwaite Road 

and to the south east of the A595. The internal field pattern is formed by 
hedgerow and the land appears to be used for grazing. A relatively deep strip of 
mature trees and landscaping forms the northwest boundary with the A595 and 
the south west boundary with Branthwaite Road. The north east boundary is 
hedgerow with some non-native tree planting. The south east boundary is part 
hedgerow, part open. To the north east and south east, surrounding land is open 
agricultural land albeit, to the northern boundary at Gale House, there is a small 
group of residential and commercial buildings. To the northwest the site is 
bounded by the A595 with the Eddie Stobbart site beyond. To the southeast the 
site is bound by Branthwaite Road, with the wider Lillyhall Estate beyond.   

 
3.2 The site is elevated when viewed from the east and provides panoramic views 

across to the Lakeland Fells. To the north and west, levels plateau before falling 
more gradually and levels fall gradually to the south. 

 
3.3 The site lies in Flood Zone 1. 
 
3.4 The site is allocated for employment uses within the adopted Allerdale Local Plan 

Part 2.  
 

 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 None relevant 
 
 
5.0       Representations 

 
Winscales Parish Council  
 

5.1 No response received to date.  
 
ABC Environmental Health 
 

5.2 No objections subject to conditions for a Construction Management Plan, 
contaminated land and sampling of any imported material.  

 
Highways England 
 

5.3 No objection.   
 

Page 76



Cumbria Fire Service 
 

5.4 No response received to date.  
 
Natural England 
 

5.5 No response received to date to the planning application. However, officers have 
received email confirmation from Natural England, as part of the screening 
process, that the proposal is unlikely to have any significant effects on any 
internationally or nationally designated sites or on the Hen Harrier Overwintering 
Area in West Cumbria – a species that is understood to be a qualifying species of 
the North Pennine Moors and Castleton Special Protection Area. Natural 
England provide ‘Standing Advice’ in respect to protected species.  

 
CCC Highways and LLFA 
 

5.6 No objections subject to conditions, an extension to the speed limit restriction on 
Branthwaite Road and a Travel Plan monitoring fee of £11,100.  

 
CCC Public Rights of Way Officer 
 

5.7 Confirmation that Public Footpath 260001 runs adjacent to the northern side of 
the site and should not be obstructed.  
 
CCC Minerals and Waste 
 
No response received to date.  
 
Cumbria Wildlife Trust 
 

5.8 No response received to date.  
 
Cumbria Constabulary 
 

5.9 No response received to date.  
 
United Utilities 
 

5.10 No objections, recommend conditions.   
 
Environment Agency 
 

5.11 Confirm that as the site falls within Flood Zone 1, it is outside of their remit.  
 
Coal Authority 
 

5.12 Parts of the application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; 
therefore, within the application site and surrounding area, there are coal mining 
features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the 
determination of this planning application. The Coal Authority records indicate 

Page 77



that a coal seam of workable thickness outcrops just within the north eastern part 
of the site that may have been historically worked at shallow depths, and the 
eastern half of the site lies within the boundary of a site from which coal has been 
removed by surface mining (opencast) methods. Advise that in the event that the 
opencast highwall is found within the site, all buildings should avoid ‘straddling’ 
this mining feature, where possible, due to differential settlement / surface 
instability. The findings of the site investigations should inform the layout of the 
buildings being considered as part any subsequent reserved matters application 
(for the outline permission). However, based on Drawing No. 01201 Revision P2 
(Proposed Site Plan, Full Planning Application, (Roundabout and Spine Road), it 
is unlikely that this would impact on the layout of the new roundabout / spine 
road. 

 
5.13 The Coal Authority concurs with the conclusion / recommendations of the 

Preliminary Coal Mining Risk Assessment Report, December 2020 based on the 
professional opinion of WYG Environment Planning Transport Ltd that parts of 
the site are likely to be at risk from former coal mining activity. Therefore, in order 
to inform the extent of any remedial and / or mitigation measures that may be 
required to ensure that the development will be safe and stable (NPPF paras. 
178 and 179) intrusive ground investigations are required. The findings of the 
ground investigations should also inform the layout (outline consent) of the 
proposed development.  

 
5.14 The Coal Authority has no objection to the proposed development subject to the 

imposition of conditions to secure site investigation and remediation. 
 
 Other representations  
 
5.15 The application, has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 

letter. No other representations have been received to date.  
 
 
6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, due to its size, the proposal requires screening 
as an industrial development falling in category 10(a) of Schedule 2. The 
proposal has duly been screened by the Local Planning Authority and for the 
reasons set out within its screening decision letter, the proposal is not considered 
to be EIA development and is not required to be accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement.  

 
7.0 Duties 
 
7.1 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.   

Page 78



7.2 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 state that 
competent authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any 
plan or project they intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to 
have a significant effect upon a European site. For the reasons set out within the 
Council’s Screening Opinion, the proposal is not considered likely to have any 
significant effect upon a European designated site.  

 
7.3 Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a 
planning application for a development which may have an impact on European 
Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or otters. 
 

 
8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
           Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
8.1 The following policies are considered relevant;- 

 
Policy S1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 – Sustainable development principles 
Policy S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 – Design principles 
Policy S5 – Development principles 
Policy S12 – Land and premises 
Policy S13 – Energy Coast Innovation Zone 
Policy S6(a) – Area based Workington 
Policy S16 – Town Centres and Retail  
Policy S21 – Developer Contributions 
Policy S22 – Transport Principles 
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure  
Policy S27  - Heritage Assets 
Policy S29 – Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S30 – Re-use of land 
Policy S32 – Safeguarding Amenity 
Policy S33 – Landscape 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy S36 – Air Water and Soil Quality 
Policy DM4 – Expansion and Intensification of Employment Sites 
Policy DM8 – Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability 
Policy DM14 – Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test for Previously Developed land 
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 
 
These policies can be found here;- 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 
 
 

Page 79

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2)  
 
8.2 The site is an employment allocation (SA41) as depicted in the inset map that  
 can be found here:-  
 

https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/dd/62/dd626e13-9e1d-
4855-a168-2df9b924c22e/lillyhall_a3.pdf 

 
8.2 The following policies are considered relevant:- 
 

Policy SA1 – Identified Sites 
Policy SA2 – Settlement Boundaries 
Policy SA33 - Broadband 
Policy SA34 – Employment Sites 
Policy SA35 – Safeguarding Employment Sites 
Policy SA41 – Land North of Branthwaite Road, Lillyhall 
Policy SA52 – Protecting and Creating Green Infrastructure 
 
These policies can be found here;- 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 
 
 

9.0      Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 
 
9.1 Paragraph 80 advises that planning decisions should help create the conditions 

in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into 
account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. The 
approach taken should allow each area to build on its strengths, counter any 
weaknesses and address the challenges of the future. 

 
9.2 Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 

vary according to their degree consistency with the framework (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given). 

 
9.3 Paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 advises 

that policies in that Framework are material consideration which should be taken 
into account in dealing with the applications from the day of its publication.  

 
9.4 The NPPF is available to view at:- 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

 
 
 

Page 80

https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/dd/62/dd626e13-9e1d-4855-a168-2df9b924c22e/lillyhall_a3.pdf
https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/dd/62/dd626e13-9e1d-4855-a168-2df9b924c22e/lillyhall_a3.pdf
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


Allerdale Council Strategy 2020-30 

9.5 Priority – Invest to Grow  

 Use our asset portfolio to create new or different opportunities (at Lillyhall, 
Oldside, Reedlands Road and Derwent Valley) 

 Utilise the Allerdale Investment Partnership, the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and Britain’s Energy Coast to stimulate growth 

 Work with partners on key economic sites and opportunities 

 
10.0 Policy weighting  
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 
10.2 In the context of paragraphs 212 and 213, with Part 2 of the Local Plan having 

only been adopted in July 2020 and consistent with the provisions of the NPPF, 
there is no reason why full weight cannot be afforded to it, alongside Part 1.  

 
10.3 Members are therefore advised that the decision should be made in accordance 

with the development plan with no material considerations, such as the NPPF, 
being afforded sufficient weight or reducing the weight of the Plan to such an 
extent that a decision contrary to it could be made.  

 
 

11.0 Assessment 
 

Principle 
 
11.1 The proposal would essentially secure the extension of the established industrial 

and commercial estate at Lillyhall, Workington. The application site (and 
additional land directly to the east) has been allocated for employment purposes 
within the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 – Policy SA41. The uses sought for 
approval - E(G)(ii) Research and Development of products or processes, E(G)(iii) 
Industrial Processes1, B2 General Industrial and B8 Storage and Distribution, 
comply with this allocation. Part 2 of the ALP is afforded full weight and therefore 
the development is considered to be acceptable in principle.  

 
11.2 Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 prioritises the effective re-use of 

previously developed land and vacant sites within the Plan area. The proposal 
seeks the development of undeveloped land and it is noted that there are vacant, 
previously developed sites within the Lillyhall Estate. However, the Allerdale 

                                                 
1 Members are advised that Class E as referred to in this report includes the Research and Development 

and Light Industrial uses that were formerly within class B1 of the Use Classes Order 1987. The change 
to the classes occurred in September 2020, hence the Part 2 Plan still refers to the old class.  

Page 81



Local Plan Part 2 safeguards the Lillyhall Estate for employment uses, as well as 
allocating this site and a number of other undeveloped sites, in order to meet the 
identified need for employment land for the Plan period. As such, it has been 
demonstrated at the plan making stage that both the existing estate and new 
sites will be required to meet the identified need. Policy S30 only requires 
sequential assessment of land for greenfield sites where these are windfall sites, 
not allocated sites. The proposal is considered acceptable as an allocated 
greenfield site.  

 
11.4 Due to the recent changes made to the Use Class Order, development falling 

within Class E – such as those identified above, would now benefit from an 
unrestricted change of use to other uses falling within the same ‘Class’. Class E 
includes a range of uses such as retail, sale of food and drink, indoor sport and 
recreation and offices. However, national and local plan policies direct such main 
town centre uses to the town centre first, then edge of centre, and only allow out 
of centre locations where the sequential test applied to town centre first is 
passed. No sequential assessment has been provided with this current 
application on the basis that these alternative uses are not being sought for 
approval. However, the Council does need to have regard to all uses that would 
be permitted as a result of any permission. As a sequential assessment has not 
been provided, it is considered reasonable and necessary to include a restrictive 
condition to limit Class E uses at the site to those specifically applied for.  A 
condition is recommended to this effect.  

 
Economic Benefits 

 
11.5 Paragraph 80 of the NPPF advises that planning policies and decisions should 

help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. 
The NPPF requires that significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local 
business needs and wider opportunities for development.  

 
11.6  It is understood that the proposal has been brought forward by Allerdale Borough 

Council and the Allerdale Investment Partnership and the detailed element of the 
scheme would provide the enabling infrastructure works to bring forward private 
sector investment in building out the wider commercial scheme. The 
infrastructure project involves and relies on CLEP funding (£1.7 million), which 
has certain timescales attached to it for securing both planning permission and 
the commencement of the works. 

 
11.7 An Economic Benefits Technical Note has been provided with the planning 

application that has been prepared by Mott MacDonald for the AIP Business 
Case to the Local Growth Fund. This note estimates that the Lillyhall North site 
could support the following economic development gains in the preferred option 
case:  

 
i. 369 net additional jobs for the Cumbria LEP economy from 2026/27 

onwards.  
ii. £19m of net additional Gross Value Added per annum for the Cumbria 

LEP economy.  

Page 82



 
11.8 Whilst the economic benefits of the proposal can only be estimated at this stage, 

the proposal clearly offers a significant level of investment and funding that has 
the potential to generate economic growth for the Borough. The NPPF requires 
that significant weight be afforded to the economic benefits of the proposal, the 
development plan allocation reflects and is consistent with this objective by 
responding to the need for growth that provides such benefits and the proposal 
will allow for delivery of such benefits in accordance with this development plan. 

 
Landscape and Visual Amenity 

 
11.9 Policy S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 seeks to ensure that the landscape 

character and local distinctiveness of the Plan area are protected, conserved and 
where possible, enhanced. Policy S32 seeks to resist development that would 
have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the local area. Policies S4, 
and DM14 seek to ensure (amongst other matters) that new development is of a 
high quality design, of appropriate scale and appearance and responds positively 
to the character, history and distinctiveness of the locality. Policy S5 seeks to 
ensure that (amongst other matters) new development is of a scale and design 
which will not detract from the character of the settlement; that the site of the 
proposed development is not considered to have significant amenity value; and 
the site is not considered to make a significant contribution to the character of the 
settlement in its undeveloped state. 

 
11.10 As an allocated site within the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, then the broad 

landscape and visual impacts of developing this agricultural land for commercial 
use have been considered acceptable. However, the relevant allocation policy 
(SA41 of Part 2 of the Local Plan) does include development considerations 
relevant to landscape and visual amenity;- 

 
a) The hedgerow along Branthwaite Road should be retained and reinforced 

where possible. 
b) High quality landscaping proposals will be required to help assimilate 

development into the wider landscape, particularly towards the south 
eastern boundary of the site.  

c) A suitable buffer zone or mitigation measures shall be incorporated along 
the north eastern boundary to protect the amenity of residential properties 
at Gale House Farm, and users of the adjoining public footpath. 

 
11.11 Whilst the commercial element of the scheme is submitted in outline only, with 

details of appearance, layout and scale all reserved for subsequent approval, 
clearly, a development of this scale has the potential for significant landscape 
and visual effects.  

 
11.12 The site does not fall within a designated landscape, lying 7.5km from the Lake 

District National Park, but it holds an elevated position when viewed from the 
east and so is inter-visible with the designation. It is within the Cumbria 
Landscape Character Assessment’s Type 5: Lowland; Sub Type 5d: Urban 
Fringe. This landscape type is noted to include extensive areas of lowland 

Page 83



agricultural pasture and agricultural land influenced by urban fringe development. 
The key characteristics of ‘Sub Type 5d: Urban Fringe’ are as follows;  

 
• Long term urban influences on agricultural land  
• Recreation, large scale buildings and industrial estates are common  
• Mining and opencast coal workings are found around Keekle and Moor Row  
• Wooded valleys, restored woodland and some semi-urbanised woodland 

provide interest 
 
11.13 The site lies at the higher end of the existing Lillyhall Industrial Estate and levels 

across the site rise up from Branthwaite Road, before levelling off. Levels fall 
away beyond the eastern boundary, which allows a panoramic view across to the 
Lakeland Fells. Levels fall more gradually to the south and plateau to the north 
and west, before falling away. To the north, west and south west, the site is 
bound by mature landscaping. The submitted plans indicate that these 
established landscaped boundaries would be largely retained. To the east, the 
boundary is part hedgerow, part open. As such, anticipated visual impacts are 
mainly expected when viewing the site from the east.  

 
11.14 A public footpath runs along the eastern boundary of the site, which extends from 

the A595 to Branthwaite road. Whilst the proposal will urbanise this footpath to a 
greater degree, by commencing at the A595 and passing through the 
development at Gale House, the existing footpath is influenced to a degree by 
urban fringe development. Subject to sensitive treatment of the northern 
boundary of the site, then any impacts on the visual amenity of footpath users 
would not be significant.  

 
11.15 Given the rising topography, these impacts could be notable, albeit they will 

reduce with distance and, from more elevated locations, the site will be seen in 
the context of the existing, large scale industrial estate. Subject to the careful 
design and scaling of buildings that consider the topography of the site itself and 
its surroundings, suitable choice of materials and colours,  along with enhanced 
boundary landscaping to the eastern boundary, it is considered that the 
landscape and visual impacts could be suitably mitigated to ensure no significant 
adverse effects.  These details can be secured at the reserved matters stage, 
albeit to safeguard delivery of site wide mitigation – such as appropriate scaling 
of buildings and landscaping to the eastern boundary, a number of conditions are 
recommended also in this respect.   

 
11.16 As such, whilst this is a large site in an elevated location when viewed from the 

east, it is considered that the extension of the existing industrial estate onto this 
site would not be out of character with the landscape character of the urban 
fringe. The site is considered to be of sufficient distance from the designated 
Lake District National Park and World Heritage Site such that the proposal would 
not impact to any significant degree on the setting of the National Park or views 
from within it.  Visual amenity impacts can be minimised through additional 
landscaping to the eastern boundary and careful consideration of levels, scale 
and layout at the reserved matters stage.  

 
 

Page 84



Sustainability, Access and Parking 
 
11.17 Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is 

located in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient 
access to public transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by 
private motor vehicles. These policies accord with advice contained within the 
NPPF, which seeks to ensure sustainable transport modes are maximised and 
development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 requires that new development 
includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and access. The development 
considerations in policy SA41 of Part 2 of the Local Plan include matters relating 
to transportation and access;- 

 
a) Vehicular access to the site shall be from Branthwaite Road. 
b) Wider transport infrastructure improvements may be required as 

determined by a Transport Assessment. 
 
11.18 The application has been supported by a Transport Assessment and a Travel 

Plan. The Transport Assessment considers in detail the accessibility of the site 
by all methods. 

 
11.19 Whilst good pedestrian facilities exist around the site and adequate provision is 

designed into the proposed scheme, it is unlikely that the majority of future users 
of the site would access it by foot, due to distance. The existing Lillyhall Estate is 
located outside of the town and only those living at Distington or High Harrington 
would be likely to consider walking. There are some amenities on the A595 and 
within the Lillyhall Estate that would be accessible on foot by future site users. 

 
11.20 The site is also accessible by bike, with a cycle route (separated from the road), 

running along the north west boundary of the site with the A595. This cycle route 
to the north west connects to National Cycleway 72 approx. 2.0km to the 
southwest of the site, that extends to Workington and Whitehaven. The TA 
assesses the sites accessibility by bike as good, on the basis that employees 
could access the site from a number of towns/villages within a 35 minute bike 
ride on mainly routes separated from the road. 

 
11.21 The TA assesses access by public transport (bus) as good also, on the basis that 

existing stops are within reasonable walking distance (350m on Joseph Noble 
Road). The area is served by a half hourly service, connecting Whitehaven to 
Maryport, via Distington, Lillyhall, Workington and Harrington.    

 
11.22 On this basis, the proposal is considered to be accessible by a range of options 

other than the private car, and sustainable, in accordance with policies S2 and 
S22 of the ALP (Part 1).  

 
11.23 A Workplace Travel Plan has been provided at this stage, which details high level 

initiatives to encourage sustainable transport measures, including a site wide 
travel plan co-ordinator, who would prepare a site wide plan and disseminate 
information to individual co-ordinators for each user within the site.  Initiatives to 
encourage staff to access the site by means other than the private car would 

Page 85



include marketing and awareness campaigns, as well as monitoring the 
effectiveness of such initiatives and the use of cycle and car parking.  

 
11.24 With regards to any residual need for parking, only indicative plans have been 

provided at this stage. It is considered that a reasonable level of car parking and 
cycle parking can be secured at the reserved matters stage.  

 
11.25 Vehicular access to the site will be provided via a new four arm roundabout 

located at the present junction of Branthwaite Road and Joseph Noble road. The 
location of this access accords with the policy SA41 site consideration and, in 
doing so, avoids direct access onto the A595. The roundabout and internal spine 
road have been designed to accommodate HGV’s. The County Highways 
Authority has raised no concerns with the design of the proposed roundabout, 
nor have they or Highways England (the latter responsible for the A595 trunk 
road) raised any concerns with the proposal. It is understood that as an allocation 
of the ALP Part 2, the traffic impacts of this site, along with all allocations, is likely 
to cumulatively give rise to some network capacity issues, requiring junction 
improvements at certain locations. These are to be secured in part by seeking 
developer contributions. However, given that this proposal is funding dependent 
and secures a new roundabout at the site entrance, the incorporated highways 
works and costs therein, are considered proportionate to the development, 
without seeking further financial contributions.  

 
11.26 To conclude, the proposal is considered to be in a sustainable location, 

accessible by a range of methods other than the private car. A Travel Plan will be 
secured to further improve the sustainability of the site and any residual parking 
needs can be secured at the reserved matters stage. The access and servicing 
arrangements are considered to be acceptable and the proposal can be 
accommodated within the existing highway network. No objections have been 
raised by the Highways Authority or Highways England. A ‘Grampian’ condition 
will secure an extension to the speed limit on Branthwaite Road and a legal 
agreement by way of a Unilateral Undertaking is being prepared in respect of the 
Travel Plan monitoring fee requested by the County Council. Members will be 
updated on the completion of this document at the Panel. On this basis, the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to policies S2, S5 and S22 of 
the ALP (Part 1).  

 
Ecology 

 
11.27 Policy S5 requires that new development will not incur any significant harmful 

effects on environmental assets, habitats or wildlife, which cannot be successfully 
mitigated. Policy S35 requires new development to protect and enhance key 
ecological habitat and wildlife corridors, maintenance and where appropriate, 
enhancement of priority habitats and species, and contribute to green 
infrastructure.  

 
11.28 The submitted plans indicate that existing perimeter landscaping will be retained, 

which is positive because this contains established hedgerow to the south east 
boundary, and mature landscaped woodland to the north west and south west 
boundary, which is allocated within the ALP Part 2 as ‘Green Infrastructure.’ Its 

Page 86



retention ensures compliance with policy S24 of Part 1 and SA52 of Part 2. The 
proposal will result in the loss of some, if not all, internal hedgerow and the 
ecological site inspection report undertaken for the Local Plan allocation stated 
that the site offers potential for marshy grassland and rush pasture priority 
habitat. The habitat on site offers some potential for protected species, but the 
site itself holds no ecological designations.  

 
11.29 The application has been supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

prepared by Hesketh Ecology which focuses on the initial works (i.e. the 
roundabout and spine road). However, whilst the focus is on the detailed 
application, the desk based assessment and survey work relates to the whole 
site and surroundings and mitigation measures consider both the detailed 
scheme and the wider site.   

 
11.30 The River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake designated Special Area for 

Conservation (SAC) lies approximately 3.2km to the east. This site lies outside of 
the River Derwent catchment and therefore it is considered unlikely that there is a 
pathway of effect to this designation.  

 
11.31 The ecological site inspection report undertaken for the Local Plan allocation 

process noted that the site lies within the Hen Harrier overwintering area, along 
its north western edge. The same report confirms that the Hen Harrier 
overwintering area is considered by Natural England to be of equivalent value to 
a Special Protection Area (SPA). The Hen Harrier is understood to be a 
qualifying species of the North Pennine Moors and Castleton SPA.  

 
11.32 The submitted Ecological Assessment states, ‘The origin of the ‘West Cumbria 

Hen Harrier Overwintering Area’ is obscure and it seems to have no level of 
formal protection. No survey data has been identified to demonstrate the areas 
significance to the species…..The habitat on site is not highly suitable for roosting 
hen harriers but could be used by foraging individuals occasionally. At the time of 
writing three Wintering Bird Survey visits have been completed….. No hen 
harriers have been recorded on site nor in the immediate area’. 

 
11.33 The report also confirms that the data search commissioned from Cumbria 

Biodiversity Data Centre contains 5no. records of hen harriers within 2km of the 
site, four of which were collected in 2010, one in 2008. All historic hen harrier 
records contained in the CBDC database are located between 1.5 and 2.8km 
from the site.  

 
11.34 The submitted Ecological Appraisal is inconclusive in relation to the Hen Harrier, 

pending one further survey. Therefore Officers have liaised further with the 
ecologist and Natural England. Hesketh Ecology have provided further 
clarification of the extent of survey work at the site and confirmed that sufficient 
survey effort has been undertaken to satisfy themselves that this proposal will not 
impact upon Hen Harrier as a qualifying feature of remote SPAs / SACs. Natural 
England, as part of the screening process under the EIA Regulations, has 
confirmed that there is unlikely to be any significant effect in this respect.  

 

Page 87



11.35 Whilst it is noted that the Hen Harrier survey work has not concluded and that 
this is a large site within the mapped overwintering area, the mapped area itself 
is substantial in size. The site is located at the very edge of the mapped area, 
adjacent to the A595, and a suitably qualified local ecologist has confirmed the 
site has low suitability for roosting and foraging, with survey effort to date having 
not recorded the species. As such, it is concluded that the likely impacts on this 
species would not be significant.   

 
11.36 In relation to national designations, Siddick Pond’s SSSI and Nature Reserve lies 

approximately 5km to the north, separated by the built form of the town. The 
proposal site is not known to drain to the ponds and therefore it is considered 
unlikely that there is any pathway of effect. The River Derwent and Tributaries 
SSSI lies approx. 3.2km east. The proposal site is not known to drain to this 
catchment, therefore there is unlikely to be a pathway of effect. These 
conclusions are supported by the submitted Ecological Appraisal.  

 
11.37 Turning to Non-Statutory Designations, Oily Johnny’s Willow Patch lies adjacent 

to the north eastern boundary of the site (County Wildlife Site). Due to its 
proximity, the proposal could indirectly damage and/or disturb habitat by wind 
blown dust, which could influence nutrient conditions, or fire damage. The 
submitted Ecological Appraisal offers mitigation measures in relation to the 
Cumbria Wildlife Site to the north including dust suppression measures and fire 
safety measures. These mitigation measures can be secured by condition.   

 
11.38 Other locally designated sites are considered to be a sufficient distance not to be 

adversely affected.   
 
11.39 With regards to on site ecology, the ecological appraisal states that the site 

contains neutral grassland - specifically sheep grazed pasture, with more than 
25% cover of Juncus effusus, which is wet in places but does not meet the 
definition of marsh / marshy grassland. The habitat on site offers some potential 
for protected species. The findings of the survey are summarised as follows: 

 
a) Bats - The submitted Ecological Appraisal indicates that the potential impacts 

on bat roosts are nil. There is greater potential to impact on foraging patterns 
due to the removal of internal hedgerows and construction/operational lighting 
of the road and wider development.  

 
b) Great Crested Newts (GCN) – Whilst there are a number of ponds within 

500m of the site, only one has shown positive eDNA for GCN on the FCC 
Landfill site. The submitted Ecological Appraisal concludes that, due to the 
partial barriers to newt dispersal which bound two sides of the site, it is now 
considered that, on balance, great crested newts are unlikely to occur on site. 

 
c) Reptiles – Some areas of the site are considered suitable habitat (not relating 

to the spine road). Likely common lizard in low numbers. The Ecological 
Appraisal states further survey work recommended for the wider 
development, but not for the access works and spine road.  

 

Page 88



d) Potential to impact on breeding birds considered low as no works are 
proposed to the established tree belts to the boundary. Some risk from 
removal of internal hedgerow.    

 
e) No impacts are predicted for Otters, badgers, and red squirrels.   

 
11.40 The proposal would result in the loss of some internal hedgerows which are 

assessed as species poor.  The proposal will require additional landscaping 
works to the south east boundary of the site and these works can be secured at 
the reserved matters stage and by condition. It is considered that this planting 
would provide some compensation for that which is to be removed.  

 
11.41 Mitigation measures have been presented in Section 7 of the submitted 

Ecological Appraisal to address identified risks to all ecological receptors as a 
result of the proposed roundabout and spine road development. Further 
recommended survey effort for the wider site is currently incomplete and 
therefore certain mitigation measures (i.e. Ecological Watching Brief) are 
precautionary, but will be sufficient to ensure no harm is caused to legally 
protected species. On this basis, subject to conditions to ensure further survey 
work where necessary and compliance with the mitigation measures proposed, 
the proposed ecological impacts of the scheme are not considered significant 
and the proposal is considered to be acceptable having regard to policy S35 of 
the ALP Part 1.  

 
11.42 The proposal will retain the wooded areas to the northwest and south west of the 

site, which will retain established habitat. It is considered that compensatory 
hedgerow should be provided for that which will be lost internally to the site and, 
should this be secured to those sections of the eastern boundary, then it would 
serve the dual purpose of providing some landscape and visual impact mitigation 
also. This can be secured by condition as a requirement of the spine road 
development, which will require removal of the internal hedgerow. Wider 
landscaping of the commercial element will be secured at the reserved matters 
stage, most likely on a plot by plot basis, as landscaping has been reserved for 
future approval. Finally, the inclusion of SUDS retention ponds will provide further 
opportunity for landscape interest and ecological habitat.     

 
Heritage Assets 

 
11.43 In accordance with the duties contained within the Planning (Listed buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) the Local Planning Authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
Further, Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to protect heritage assets in 
a manner that is appropriate to their intrinsic historic value and significance, 
reflecting the advice of the NPPF.  

 
11.44 Wythemoor Sough is the closest heritage asset to the proposal at approx. 850m 

(Grade II listed). The listing description states,  
 

Page 89



‘Farmhouse, stable and barn. Mid or late C18. Painted rendered walls, 
under graduated greenslate roof with painted brick chimney stacks. 2 
storeys, 3 bays with left single-bay stable and right 2-bay barn, all under 
common roof. Gabled stone porch has plank door with further plank door 
and sash windows all in painted stone surrounds. Stable has plank door, 
with loft doorway above and flanking slit vents. Barn has projecting cart 
entrance, the return wall of which has pigeon openings. Single-storey barn 
extension is not of interest. 

 
11.45 The listing offers little information in terms of the significance of the building. The 

proposal has the potential to impact on its setting. The setting of the building 
does have some value in appreciating the significance of this farmhouse as it 
holds an elevated position in relation to the agricultural land to its frontage 
(south), giving the impression that the farmhouse holds a watchful view over the 
farmland that would have historically been associated with it. Levels at the rear 
rise up. Given the separation distances involved, the intervening highway and 
landscape/topography, the proposal is not considered likely to have any 
significant effects on the setting of this heritage asset as it will not interfere 
directly in the appreciation of the farmhouse in the context of the falling land to 
the front or the rising land immediately to its rear. This was confirmed by the 
Council’s Conservation Officer at the site allocation stage. No other heritage 
assets are considered likely to be adversely affected by the proposal and 
therefore the scheme is considered acceptable in this respect.  

 
Residential Amenity 

 
11.46 Amongst other matters, Policy S32 seeks to ensure that the residential amenity 

of communities are maintained to an appropriate level.  
 
11.47 The proposal has the potential to impact local residents at the construction stage 

and during operation. A limited number of residential properties lie in close 
proximity to the northern site boundary at Gale House. These dwellings are in 
close proximity, but their principal elevations do not appear to face directly onto 
the site. An outbuilding is positioned on the boundary. Any visual impacts of the 
proposal on these residents would have to be considered at the reserved matters 
stage in terms of the scale of units and separation distances, along with the 
suitability of landscaping.  

 
11.48 The proposed B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution) uses have 

the potential to impact on these residents in other respects (noise, odour, dust). 
Therefore it is considered appropriate that a condition be placed on the 
permission to control where B2 and B8 uses can be sited. Other potential noise 
and disturbance can be controlled by conditions. The Council’s Environmental 
Health section has advised that, subject to conditions controlling such matters, 
residential amenity would be protected to an appropriate level. On this basis, the 
development is considered to be acceptable in this respect, in accordance with 
Policy S32.  

 
 
 

Page 90



Ground Conditions 
 
11.49 Policy S30 of the ALP Part 1 requires that, where land is known to be at risk of 

potential on-site contamination or stability issues, then it should be subject to 
appropriate investigation and remediation. A development consideration in policy 
SA41 of Part 2 of the Local Plan reflects this matter. As noted by the Coal 
Authority response, the site and surroundings have been the subject former coal 
mining activity.  Both the Coal Authority and the Council’s Environmental Health 
team have confirmed that possible contamination can be adequately dealt with 
by conditions. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to 
Policy S30 insofar as it relates to contamination, subject to the inclusion of 
conditions to secure site investigation, remediation and verification.   

  
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
11.50 Policy S29 of the ALP Part 1 seeks to ensure that new development is located 

where it would not be at risk of flooding and where it would not increase the risk 
of flooding elsewhere. The site lies within Flood Zone 1 which is land at the 
lowest risk of flooding. However, due to the size of the site, it has been 
accompanied by a flood risk assessment.  

 
11.51 The submitted flood risk assessment notes some potential for surface water 

ponding/flooding within the wooded areas to the northwest and south west 
boundaries of the site, with no other flood risk is identified. Therefore, the focus of 
the FRA is to consider surface water drainage, to ensure that no increase in flood 
risk occurs downstream of the site or on adjacent areas as a result of this 
development.    

 
11.52 The topographical survey indicates that a shallow ditch runs adjacent to the 

central hedge line within the site flowing in a south westerly direction, but that 
there is no evidence of a culvert taking the discharge from this ditch. Ordnance 
Survey (OS) mapping indicates that an unnamed watercourse issues to the south 
of Branthwaite Road and flows in a southerly direction between Joseph Noble 
Road and the adjacent industrial unit in sections of open channel and culvert. It 
continues southwards through Lillyhall Industrial Estate and then flows to the 
south east within an area of historic opencast mining. This unnamed watercourse 
is ultimately a tributary of the Distington Beck. There are known to be localised 
flooding issues on the Distington Beck.  

 
11.53 The FRA suggests that ground conditions are likely to be unsuitable for infiltration 

and that, due to the unknown standard of culverts associated with the tributaries 
leading to Distington Beck, the preferred option is to connect surface water 
drainage to the existing surface water sewer located in Branthwaite Road 
adjacent to the site and being adjacent the low point of the site. The FRA 
proposes drainage for the spine road to a detention pond that will restrict the 
post-development discharge rates to greenfield rates, plus 40% allowance for 
climate change, including hydrobrake. The design of the pond will allow for some 
‘treatment’ of the water also to improve quality. It is proposed that plot drainage is 
attenuated on-plot, providing one level of water quality treatment. Plot drainage 
will be restricted to greenfield rates and connect into the drainage stub 

Page 91



connecting to the spine road carrier pipe. The details of specific plots has not 
been provided at this stage. The FRA advises that suitable overland flood routes 
be provided within the development to ensure that no localised flooding of the 
buildings occurs within the development, in an exceedance event. There is some 
conflict with policy S29’s drainage hierarch here given the reliance on a sewer for 
drainage; the least preferable method. This does count against the proposal but 
is not an issue afforded any meaningful weight in the overall balance of policy 
considerations.  

 
11.54 Foul drainage will connect to the existing combined sewer in Joseph Noble Road. 
 
11.55 United Utilities has raised no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions to 

secure drainage for the site in accordance with the principles of the submitted 
FRA. A further condition is advised to secure a management regime for the 
SUDS features. The Lead Local Flood Authority have similarly raised no 
objections subject to conditions to secure further surface water drainage details.  

 
11.56 It is considered that sufficient information has been provided at this stage in 

terms of flood risk and drainage. Subject to conditions relating to the provision of 
a detailed surface water drainage scheme and its maintenance and 
management, that follow the principles of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment, 
it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in relation to policy S29 of the 
ALP (Part 1).  

 
 Broadband 
 
11.57 Policy SA33 of the ALP Part 2 requires applicants for proposals for commercial 

development to demonstrate how they have liaised with broadband infrastructure 
providers, who will install the necessary broadband infrastructure during the 
construction process in order to achieve superfast (as defined by Government 
standards) fibre broadband connectivity.  

 
11.58 The applicant has confirmed that they have been liaising with broadband   

providers to deliver the necessary ducting works as part of the spine road works.  
 

Local Financial Considerations 
 

11.59  Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 
have financial implications arising from Council Tax Revenue. 

 

12.0 Conclusions 

12.1 The proposal will see the development of a large, greenfield site for commercial 
purposes as an extension to the existing Lillyhall Industrial Estate. The site is 
allocated in the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 for such uses, and therefore the 
principle of the development is considered to be acceptable. The site holds an 
elevated location when viewed from the west and therefore careful consideration 
will need to be given to the layout, scale and site levels at the reserved matters 
stage to ensure visual effects are minimised to an acceptable levels. In all other 

Page 92



respects (including ecology, flood risk, ground contamination, heritage, 
residential amenity etc), the proposal is considered to be acceptable, subject to 
conditions. When considered against the development plan policies as whole, 
there is little conflict (only the surface water discharge to the sewer) and 
substantial accordance and benefits. The recommendation is therefore to grant 
planning approval, subject to the attached conditions.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Grant with conditions, subject to receipt of signed Unilateral Undertaking 
for Travel Plan monitoring fee.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



Annex 1 

Conditions: 

Conditions applying only to the full application for the construction of the access, 
spine road and surface water drainage works: 
 

TIME LIMIT: 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 

with the following plans (unless otherwise amended by further details 
required by condition): 
  

 A118524-101E Link Road General Arrangement 

 A118524-TR001A Site Access Swept Path Analysis  

 A118524 002C Spine Road Preliminary Levels & Long Section  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01000_P1_Location Plan  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01201_P2_Proposed Site Plan - Full Planning 
Application  

 A118524-100D Roundabout General Arrangement  
 

  Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered. 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the mitigation measures and recommendations contained within Section 7 of 
the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by Hesketh 
Ecology dated December 2020. 

 
Reason: To ensure that any adverse impacts on habitat and ecological interests 
are appropriately avoided, mitigated or compensated for, in accordance with Policy 
S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 2014.  

 

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS: 

4.  Prior to the commencement of the development, a detailed surface water 
drainage scheme based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site 
conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed 
after completion), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 94



Planning Authority. The drainage scheme submitted for approval shall be in 
accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment, 
prepared by WYG and dated January 2021. Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to 
the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly. The development 
shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

 
5.   The carriageways, footways and footpaths within the site shall be designed, 

drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further 
details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development 
hereby permitted is commenced. Cycleways and footways shall be provided 
that link continuously and conveniently to the nearest existing cycleways 
and footways. No work shall be commenced until a full specification has 
been approved.  These details shall be in accordance with the standards laid 
down in the current Cumbria Design Guide.  Any works so approved shall be 
constructed before the development is completed. 

 
  Reason : To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 

development in the interests of highway safety. 
 
6.  No development shall commence for the construction of the new 

roundabout, site access and spine road and the extension to existing 
pedestrian/cycle path until a scheme of intrusive site investigations has 
been carried out on site to establish the risks posed to the development by 
past coal mining activity and to establish the degree and nature of any 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to 
human health, (including chemical and gas analysis identified as being 
appropriate by the desk study). The scope of works for the site 
investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to 
their commencement. 

 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
7.  Should land affected by past coal mining activity or contamination be 

identified following site investigations, which poses unacceptable risks to 
the development itself, human health, controlled waters or the wider 
environment, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation 
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the 
works to be undertaken including the verification plan.  

Page 95



Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
8.  No development shall take place until a construction method statement has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The statement shall include the following: 

 
a) Traffic management plan to include all traffic associated with the 

development including site and staff traffic; 
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 

construction and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from 
vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles deliveries.  
All measurements should make reference to BS7445; 

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution. 

d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected 
species or habitats during construction, including detailed mitigation 
measures as considered necessary within the Hesketh Ecology 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, dated December 2020 for dust 
suppression and fire safety.  

e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction. 

f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction; 

g) Programme of work for construction; 
h) Hours of working and deliveries; 
i) Details of lighting to be used on site during construction. 
j) Details for the control and management of surface water during 

construction. 
  
  The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 

development. 
 
 Reason : In the interests of highway safety, ecology and the water environment, and 

the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, in accordance 
with policies S5, S22, S29, S32, S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 
2014. 

 
PRIOR TO USE COMMENCING:  
 
9.  Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 7, the approved 

strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the access road 
being brought into use. 

 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 

Page 96



compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
10.  Within three months of the development commencing, a scheme of hard and 

soft landscaping shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The landscaping plans shall include details of the treatment or 
planting proposed to the surface water detention ponds and banking to the 
spine road (including any temporary measures), and compensatory hedgerow 
planting to the open sections of the eastern boundary of the site. All planting, 
seeding or turfing comprised within the approved scheme shall be carried out 
in the first planting season following completion of the development and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality. 
 

11. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, prior to the installation of any 
operational lighting, full details of a lighting scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall be 
accompanied by a statement from the site ecologist confirming that the 
lighting scheme proposed will not have an adverse impact on protected 
species such as bats. The development shall be completed only in 
accordance with the approved details. Reason: To ensure that any adverse 
impacts on habitat and ecological interests are appropriately avoided, mitigated or 
compensated for, in accordance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 
2014.  

Conditions applying only to the outline application for the use of the site for 
E(G)(ii) Research and Development of products or processes, E(G)(iii) Industrial 
Processes, B2 General Industrial and B8 Storage and Distribution. 
 

RESERVED MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL: 
 
12. Before any works commence details of the layout, scale and appearance, and 

landscaping (hereinafter called ‘reserved matters’) shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason : The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 

accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
TIME LIMIT: 
 
13. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 

than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and 

Page 97



the development shall begin no later than whichever is the later of the 
following dates:  

       a) The expiration of three years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or  

       b) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the ‘reserved 
matters’ or,  

 in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved. 

 
 Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 
 
14. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 

with the following plans: 
  

 A118524-101E Link Road General Arrangement 

 A118524-TR001A Site Access Swept Path Analysis  

 A118524 002C Spine Road Preliminary Levels & Long Section  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01000_P1_Location Plan  

 1862-JSA-XX-XX-SK-A-01201_P2_Proposed Site Plan - Full Planning 
Application  

 A118524-100D Roundabout General Arrangement  
 

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered. 

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT:  
 
15. No development (or specified phase of the development) shall commence 

until a scheme of intrusive site investigations has been carried out on the site 
(or for the specified phase), to establish the risks posed to the development 
by past coal mining activity and to establish the degree and nature of any 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to 
human health, (including chemical and gas analysis identified as being 
appropriate by the desk study). The scope of works for the site investigations 
should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their 
commencement. 

 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
16. Should land affected by past coal mining activity or contamination be 

identified following site investigations, which poses unacceptable risks to the 
development itself (or for a specified phase), human health, controlled waters 
or the wider environment, no development (or no part of the specified phase 

Page 98



of the development) shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification 
of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be 
undertaken including the verification plan.  

 
      Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 

possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
17. No development shall take place until a construction method statement has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for 
the development as a whole, or for a specified phase of the outline scheme.  
The statement shall include the following: 

 
a) Traffic management plan to include all traffic associated with the 

development including site and staff traffic; 
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 

construction and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from 
vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles deliveries.  
All measurements should make reference to BS7445; 

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution. 

d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected 
species or habitats during construction, including detailed mitigation 
measures as considered necessary within the Hesketh Ecology 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, dated December 2020 for dust 
suppression and fire safety.  

e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction. 

f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction; 
g) Programme of work for construction; 
h) Hours of working and deliveries; 
i) Details of lighting to be used on site. 
j) Details for the control and management of surface water during 

construction. 
 

  The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development (or specified phase). 

 
Reason : In the interests of highway safety, ecology and the water environment, and 
the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, in accordance 
with policies S5, S22, S29, S32, S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 
2014. 

 
18. Prior to the commencement of the development or any specified phase, a 

detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site or the specified phase, 

Page 99



shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall be based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the 
National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the 
site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be maintained and 
managed after completion). Any drainage scheme submitted for approval 
shall be in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk 
Assessment, prepared by WYG and dated January 2021. Unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall 
discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly. The 
surface water drainage for the development or specified phase of 
development, shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 
  Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
  manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

 
19. Prior to the commencement of the development, or any specified phase of the 

development, full details and cross sections demonstrating any re-profiling of 
ground levels across the site or within that specified phase, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development or specified phase shall be completed only in accordance with 
the approved details.   
 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S4 of Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 
 

PRIOR TO USE COMMENCING:  
 
20. The location/siting of any buildings or uses falling within Use Classes B2 and 

B8 within the development, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval in writing, prior to such uses commencing. Thereafter, any uses 
falling within use class B2 and B8 shall only be undertaken at those approved 
locations. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 2.  

 
21. No uses falling within uses classes B2 and B8 shall commence until a Noise 

Assessment and Management Plan for that use has been submitted to and 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Noise 
Assessment and Management Plan shall set out: 
(1)     That the rating level (LArTr) of the noise emitted from the proposed 
development shall be 5dB below the existing background level  (LA90T).The 
rating level shall be determined by measurement or calculation at the 
boundary of the nearest existing noise sensitive premises. The assessment 
must be carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant/engineer and 
measurement shall be in accordance with BS 4142: 2014.  
(2)     Full details of all mitigation measures that will be incorporated into the 
scheme design and into the operational phase of the development, to achieve 

Page 100



these noise limits.  
(3)     A scheme of verification/validation to ensure that the agreed noise limits 
are achieved. The verification will require the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority.  
The site shall be managed operationally to ensure that the rating level at the 
nearest existing noise sensitive receptor is achieved and any mitigation 
measures shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed or altered 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents and 
occupiers of land and buildings, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
22. Should a remediation scheme be required by condition 16 following site 

investigations for the site or any specified phase, the approved strategy shall 
be implemented and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority for the development or the specified phase, 
prior to any use commencing within the development or within that phase. 

 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 

23. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within any landscaping scheme 
approved at the reserved matters stage, shall be carried out in the first 
planting season following completion of the development (or specified 
phase) and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality.  

 
24. Details showing the provision within the development or any specified 

phase, for the internal access, parking, turning and loading and unloading 
of vehicles visiting the site, including the provision of parking spaces for 
staff and visitors, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval. The development shall not be brought into use until any such 
details have been approved and the parking, loading, unloading and 
manoeuvring facilities constructed for the development or the specified 
phase. The approved parking, loading, unloading and manoeuvring areas 
shall be kept available for those purposes at all times and shall not be used 
for any other purpose.  

 
Reason: To ensure that vehicles can be properly and safely accommodated clear 
of the highway.  

 

Page 101



25.   No part of any subsequently approved building shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials for that 
building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in the 
building as approved. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
26. Details of the siting, height and type of any means of enclosure (screen 

walls/fences) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the phase of development to which the means 
of enclosure directly relates, is brought into use. Any such boundary 
treatment shall be constructed as approved prior to the phase of 
development to which the means of enclosure relates, being brought into 
use. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part 
thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and to safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring properties. 

 
27.  No use of the development, or any specified phase of the development, 

shall commence until the hours of operation for the development, or for 
any specified phase, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The hours of operation shall include for any 
deliveries, loading and unloading. The approved operational hours shall be 
adhered to at all times thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
  Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 

compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
28. No use of the development, or any specified phase of the development, 

shall commence until any areas intended for use as outside storage 
(including for the storage of waste), have been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval, along with details of maximum storage 
heights and screening to those areas. Unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, only those areas approved by the Local 
Planning Authority for outside storage shall be used for that purpose for 
the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 

 

Page 102



29. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 
a detailed Travel Plan for that part of the development has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The measures 
identified in the Travel Plan shall be in general accordance with the 
principles of the Workplace Travel Plan prepared by WYG, dated December 
2020, and shall be implemented by the occupier of that element of the 
development within 12 months of that element being brought into use. 
 

 Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance 
with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 

30.  Prior to the operational use of the development commencing, or for any 
specified phase, a detailed lighting scheme shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval for the development, or for the specified 
phase. The lighting scheme shall be accompanied by a statement from the 
site ecologist confirming that the details are suitable in relation to 
protected species. The lighting scheme shall include for approval, the 
hours of operation and levels of illumination. The approved lighting 
scheme shall be adhered to at all times during the operational phase of the 
development or specified phase.  
 

  Reason: To safeguard the visual amenity of the locality and to ensure that 
ecological interests are appropriately protected, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

31.  No development or specified phase of the development, shall commence 
until an Ecological Assessment and any necessary survey work for the 
development or a specified phase, has been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. The assessment and survey effort 
submitted for approval shall be in accordance with the advice and 
mitigation measures set out in the Preliminary Ecological Assessment, 
prepared by Hesketh Ecology and dated December 2020, and it shall 
include recommended mitigation measures, pre-construction, during and 
post construction. The development or specified phase of development 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved mitigation measures.  
Reason: To minimise the risk to protected species in accordance with policy S35 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 2014.   
 

32. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no use 
of the site shall commence until a traffic regulation order has been put into 
effect to extend the 30mph speed limit on Branthwaite Road to 
accommodate the new roundabout. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.   

OTHER: 
 
33. This permission does not authorise any use of the site for any purpose 

falling outside of the specific use classes E(g)(ii) Research and 

Page 103



Development of products or processes, E(g)(iii) Industrial Processes, B2 
General Industrial and B8 Storage and Distribution now, or in the future, 
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority upon 
an application submitted to it.  

 
Reason: Use of the site for other main town centre uses falling within Class E 
would require justification through sequential assessment demonstrating that 
there were no sequentially preferable sites within or adjacent to the town centre. 
No such justification has been provided as part of this application as required by 
policy S16 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 or advice contained within the 
NPPF.  

 
34. For a period of five years, an annual report reviewing the effectiveness of 

any Travel Plan approved under condition 29, including any necessary 
amendments or additional measures, as well as timing for their 
implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing  by the Local 
Planning Authority. Any amendments hereby approved shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timescales.  
 

 Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the site in accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 
 
Conditions applying to both the full application and outline application: 
 
35. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 

 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 

 
Advisory Note 
 
It is anticipated that the development subject of the outline approval will come forward in 
phases. The conditions relating to the outline permission have therefore been drafted to 
allow for discharge for individual phases of the development.  
 
Details of lighting to be submitted as part of the Construction Management Plan and for 
any operational stage of the development should be accompanied by a statement from 

Page 104



the site ecologist confirming that the details submitted for approval will not have any 
significant adverse effects on bats.   
 
A number of the conditions relating to the outline planning permission will have 
implications for the details to be approved under the reserved matters (such as surface 
water drainage arrangements, external storage areas, site levels, noise assessment). 
Therefore it is recommended that such details be submitted at the same time as a  
reserved matter applications.  

Page 105



 

Page 106



 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application CLD/2020/0023 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: CLD/2020/0023 

Valid Date: 22/10/2020 

Location: Low Wood 
Belle Vue 
Papcastle 
Cockermouth 

Applicant: Mrs J Bannard 

Proposal: Application for a lawful development certificate for a 
proposed outbuilding 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Refusal 

 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The proposed building does not comply 
with the GPDO Class E in terms of 
location relative to the principal 
elevation.  It is also considered larger 
than is reasonably required for 
purposes incidental to the enjoyment of 
the dwellinghouse.   

 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The application is for a Lawful Development Certificate for a proposed 

development.  The proposed development is a building measuring 23mx22m 
in area and 7.6m in height.  The layout plan shows open space with no walls 
or intermediate floors.  It states the space will be for domestic use in 
association with the dwelling.  The agent has confirmed it would incorporate a 
log store, gym, games area including a snooker table and table tennis 
together with storage area for garden equipment/garden furniture/cycles etc.  

 
2.2 The site plan and overall proposal shows the proposed building to be dug into 

the gradient, which keeps the ridge height to 4 metres.  The drawing states 
the curtilage of Low Wood to be 1,375 sq m and the area of the proposed 
building to be 471 sqm.  

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
2.3 The application form states that the proposal is considered to comply with 

Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the amended General Permitted Development 
Order 2015 i.e it is “permitted development”. As such the claim is that the 
development described could lawfully be implemented relying on these rights 
rather than having to apply and be granted planning permission by Allerdale 
BC as the local planning authority. 
 

2.4 The Plans for consideration are:- 
 
 Dwg 20.07.SITE G Site Plan and overall Proposal 

Dwg 20.23.FL Proposed Floor Layout 
Dwg 20.23.LOC Location Plan 
Dwg 20.23.PD Interpretation of Permitted Development 
Email 11-11-2020 

 
 
3.0 Site 

 
3.1 The site comprises a residential dwelling, Low Wood, and its curtilage, which 

is located on the western edge of Belle Vue.   
 
3.2 Low Wood is at the end of a terrace comprising three properties.  The terrace 

runs perpendicular to Dovers Lane, with Low Wood at the far end.  Low Wood 
is three storeys in height, with two storey and single storey extensions to the 
west and north.  This includes a single storey porch extension under 
construction at the front door on the west facing elevation.  

 
3.3 From Dovers Lane there is a track for vehicles which is signed ‘Low Wood 

Belle Vue’.  It provides access to the house and large garden area and 
parking area.   

 
3.4 To the east of the property is a pedestrian path which runs from Dovers Lane, 

where bins for the properties are stored.  Along this east facing elevation are 
windows but no doors into the building.  There is a gate with a sign to direct 
deliveries to the side gate which leads back to the front door on the west 
facing elevation.  There is no bell or letter box on the east facing elevation.  
Therefore, whilst it is possible that there is a way to access the property from 
the east elevation through the gate, this is private and does not function as 
the primary access.  These are relevant considerations when assessing 
whether or not the proposal is permitted development. 

 
 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 

 
4.1 A recent permission in principle application (PIP/2020/0007) for a single 

dwelling was refused and also dismissed at appeal in 2019 due to being 
deemed as not a suitable location for a dwelling. 

 

Page 110



 

 

4.2  The house has already been extended under 2/2004/1570 to provide a 
kitchen and living room extension.  There are two further single storey 
extensions on the west facing elevation that are not part of the original 
dwelling. 

  
 
5.0 Representations 
 

Parish Council 
 
5.1 Object to the application on the grounds of; 
 

a) The size and height of the proposed building cannot fall within the 
parameters of Class E 

b) Questions the purpose for which the building can be said to be 
incidental to the use of a modern property such as Lowood.   

c) The building is forward of a wall forming the principal elevation of the 
original dwellinghouse.  The principal elevation is that facing the south 
west.  

d) Agricultural land has recently been taken into the garden and should 
not be regarded as part of the curtilage.   

 
 
6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1 With reference to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development is not within Schedule 1 nor 
2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 

7.0 Duties 
 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990  

7.1 In dealing with applications for certificates of proposed use, a local planning 
authority needs to consider whether, on the facts of the case and relevant 
planning law, the specific matter is or would be lawful. Planning merits are not 
relevant at any stage in this particular application or appeal process. 

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 

 
7.2 Permitted development rights for outbuildings incidental to the enjoyment of a 

dwellinghouse are set out in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E.  Development is 
permitted for the provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of any 
building or enclosure required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwellinghouse, subject to criteria which are examined in this report.   

 
 
 

Page 111



 

 

8.0 Development Plan Policies and other material considerations 
 

The application must be determined on the facts of the case and relevant 
planning law.  Development Plan policy is not relevant to the determination of 
the application.   
 

 
9.0 Assessment 
 
9.1 This application seeks the granting of a certificate of lawful development for a 

proposed domestic outbuilding within the curtilage of Low Wood.  This section 
assesses the proposals against the requirements of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, Schedule 
2, Part 1, Class E.  Development is permitted for the provision within the 
curtilage of a dwellinghouse of any building or enclosure required for a 
purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse subject to the 
following:  

 
Development is not permitted by Class E if—  

 
(a) permission to use the dwellinghouse as a dwellinghouse has been 
granted only by virtue of Class M, N, P, PA or Q of Part 3 of this 
Schedule (changes of use);  

 
This does not apply to the proposals so they meet this requirement.  

 
(b) the total area of ground covered by buildings, enclosures and 
containers within the curtilage (other than the original dwellinghouse) 
would exceed 50% of the total area of the curtilage (excluding the 
ground area of the original dwellinghouse);  

 
The applicant has calculated the curtilage to be 1375 sq m.  On their 
calculations the proposed building of 471 sq m would therefore meet this 
requirement.  The curtilage must not include the original house and excluding 
the access track, so officers calculate the curtilage to be 1,348 sq m.  

 
The area of ground covered must include not only the proposed building but 
also the other extensions.  In addition to the 471 sq m of the proposed 
building, an additional 21 sq m was built under 2/2004/1570.  This brings the 
total area to 492 sq m, but this is still well within the 50% limit.  A small single 
storey extension is under construction on the west elevation.  A further single 
storey extension exists on the west elevation (timber entrance).  These are 
small in scale and would not significantly increase the area of ground covered.   

 
Therefore the area of ground covered by buildings, enclosures and containers 
within the curtilage (other than the original dwellinghouse) comprises less than 
50% of the total area of the curtilage, and the proposal complies with this 
requirement.  

 

Page 112



 

 

(c) any part of the building, enclosure, pool or container would be 
situated on land forward of a wall forming the principal elevation of the 
original dwellinghouse; 

 
The principal elevation of the original dwellinghouse needs to be identified to 
work out whether the proposed building is to the front or rear.   

 
In seeking architectural features to identify the ‘front’, it is helpful to 
understand the history to the property.  The terrace was built with the main 
dwelling on Dover’s Lane, and was initially a single property extending down 
the hill.  At this stage there was no need for a main entrance, as the whole of 
Low Wood was the rear of another property on the roadside.  The terrace was 
then subdivided into three properties.   

 
The term ‘original’ is taken to mean from 1948.  The earliest plans that we 
have are from an application in 2004.  The elevations and ground floor plan 
show the entrance door to the main hallway on the elevation that faces west 
and faces onto the garden area.  In contrast, the east facing elevation has no 
front door.  It does have a gate into a small yard with access to a door on the 
north facing elevation.  This door is to a passageway which is not the main 
entrance to the property.  Therefore, floor plans from 2004 give an indication 
of the layout of the property and lead to the conclusion that the dwelling was 
designed originally with the front door and principal elevation facing west, onto 
the vehicular access and garden area.   

 
The west facing elevation can be seen to be the principal elevation on a site 
visit now.  Vehicular and pedestrian access from the highway is taken from a 
driveway that leads to the west facing elevation.  There are two entrance 
doors on this elevation and on a site visit it was noted that the Royal Mail use 
this driveway and doors on this elevation for deliveries.  In contrast, the 
property has no sign on the east elevation.  The gate to the yard remains, but 
there is no doorbell and any deliveries are directed around the side to the 
doors on the west facing elevation.   

 
Therefore, the principal elevation is the west facing elevation.  The proposed 
outbuilding is in front of the principal elevation where there are no permitted 
development rights.  The building requires planning permission.  

 
(d) the building would have more than a single storey;  

 
The building is shown to be single storey in height.  It is over 7 metres in 
height in some parts but the layout plan shows no internal storeys.  The 
proposal meets this requirement but, if an internal floor was added, it would no 
longer comprise permitted development.   

 
(e) the height of the building, enclosure or container would exceed— (i) 
4 metres in the case of a building with a dual-pitched roof, (ii) 2.5 metres 
in the case of a building, enclosure or container within 2 metres of the 
boundary of the curtilage of the dwellinghouse, or (iii) 3 metres in any 
other case;  

Page 113



 

 

 
Despite reaching over 7 metres in height at some points, the proposals 
comply with this section because the level of the surface of the ground is not 
uniform, so the measurement is taken from the level of the highest part of the 
surface of the ground adjacent to it.  The building is dual-pitched and is 4m in 
height from the highest part of adjacent ground.  

 
(f) the height of the eaves of the building would exceed 2.5 metres;  

 
The building has been designed with eaves of 2.5m and therefore complies 
with this section.  

 
(g) the building, enclosure, pool or container would be situated within 
the curtilage of a listed building;  

 
It is not within the curtilage of a listed building.The proposals comply with this 
section. 

 
(h) it would include the construction or provision of a verandah, balcony 
or raised platform;  

 
There are no verandahs, balconies or raised platforms proposed. The 
proposals comply with this section. 

 
(i) it relates to a dwelling or a microwave antenna; or (j) the capacity of 
the container would exceed 3,500 litres.;  

 
The proposals comply with these sections. 

 
(k) the dwellinghouse is built under Part 20 of this Schedule 
(construction of new dwellinghouses).  

 
It wasn’t. The proposals comply with this section. 

 
9.2 In addition to these specific requirements there is also case law regarding the 

definition of development ‘required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment 
of the dwellinghouse’.   

 
9.3 The courts have held that the term “required” in this part of the GPDO should 

be interpreted to mean “reasonably required.” In the judgement of Emin v SSE 
and Mid Sussex DC [1989] JPL 909 it was held that, when deciding whether 
the proposed use of a building would be incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwellinghouse, it was necessary to consider whether the building is genuinely 
and reasonably required or necessary to achieve that purpose. The proposed 
outbuilding will not necessarily be required just because the householder says 
it is and it is for the applicant to show it is reasonably required and designed 
with incidental uses in mind. The keynote is ‘reasonableness’. 

 
9.4 The above principles were reiterated in Holding v FSS & Thurrock BC [2004] 

JPL 1405 and LB Croydon v Gladden [1994] 1 PRL 2. In the case of Holding, 

Page 114



 

 

which concerned what might be regarded as a very large incidental building 
within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse, the Inspector considered that it is 
reasonable to suppose that the purpose of the permission granted under 
Class E is to allow for accommodation for hobbies to which people need 
space in and around their home to be provided without the need for the 
formality of a planning application. In the Gladden case it was held that, for a 
use to be considered incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse and 
exempted from development under s55(2)(d), it must be of a scale and nature 
that is incidental to the reasonable enjoyment of the normal residential use of 
the buildings and land which comprise the dwellinghouse and its curtilage. 

 
9.5 The agent has confirmed the building would be used to incorporate a log 

store, gym, games area including a snooker table and table tennis together 
with storage area for garden equipment/garden furniture/cycles etc. In 
considering the application in this context, it would be reasonable to consider 
the nature of these proposed uses as incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling.  However, these uses at an appropriate scale to the enjoyment of 
the dwelling do not require a building of such scale, in terms of area or height.   
It is considered that the proposed building is of a scale that is not reasonably 
required for the purposes outlined. Officers had regard to the activities 
proposed to be housed within the building and concluded that they could be 
accommodated in a structure substantially smaller than that proposed, 
especially given the modest scale of the host dwelling to which it would serve 
and that there was no evidence of a particular hobby e.g. a classic 
commercial vehicle collection, that would necessitate the volume of internal 
space proposed. 

 
9.6 Therefore, the building is considered too large to be required for a purpose 

incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse and does not comply with 
Class E.  

 
10.0 Conclusions 

10.1 The proposed building cannot be considered to be permitted development 
under Class E because:  

 
a) It is located forward of the principal elevation. 
b) The proposed uses at an appropriate scale to the enjoyment of the 

dwelling do not require a building of such scale, in terms of area or height.   
It is considered that the proposed building is of a scale that is not 
reasonably required for the purposes outlined. Therefore, the building is 
considered too large to be required for a purpose incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse and does not comply with Class E. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse  

 

Page 115



 

 

Reason for Refusal: 

The proposed development does not comply with the requirements of The 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015, as set out in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E.  The 
development is located forward of the principal elevation and in terms of 
height and area is of a scale that is not reasonably required for the purposes 
identified to be incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse.   

 

Page 116



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 117



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



 

 

 

 

Page 120



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

Page 121



 

 

 

Page 122


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Development Panel - Hill Farm, Causeway Road, Seaton - Works to TPO, Propose to remove the following trees to avoid safety  issues etc to the neighbouring dwelling. Remove Ash, T1 and T5 and plant replacement trees
	6 Development Panel - Land East of Causeway Road, Seaton - Outline application for residential development comprising up to 100 dwellings with details of access and associated works
	7 Development Panel - Land at Lillyhall North, Branthwaite Road, Winscales, Workington - Hybrid application- Full planning permission is sought for the construction of a new roundabout, site access and spine road and the extension to existing pedestrian/cycle path. Outline permission for the erection of a variety of industrial, storage, research and development and industrial process use buildings (Use classes B2,B8, E(g)ii E(g)iii).
	8 Development Panel - Low Wood, Belle Vue, Papcastle, Cockermouth - Application for a lawful development certificate for a proposed outbuilding

